
AGENDA

CABINET MEETING
Date: Wednesday, 8 November 2017
Time: 7.00 pm
Venue: Council Chamber, Swale House, East Street, Sittingbourne, Kent, ME10 3HT

Membership:

Councillors Bowles (Chairman), Mike Cosgrove, Duncan Dewar-Whalley, Alan Horton, 
Gerry Lewin (Vice-Chairman), Ken Pugh and David Simmons.

Quorum = 3 

RECORDING NOTICE
Please note: this meeting may be recorded.

At the start of the meeting the Chairman will confirm if all or part of the meeting is being 
audio recorded.  The whole of the meeting will be recorded, except where there are 
confidential or exempt items.

You should be aware that the Council is a Data Controller under the Data Protection Act.  
Data collected during this recording will be retained in accordance with the Council’s data 
retention policy.

Therefore by entering the Chamber and speaking at Committee you are consenting to being 
recorded and to the possible use of those sound recordings for training purposes.

If you have any queries regarding this please contact Democratic Services.

Pages
1. Emergency Evacuation Procedure

The Chairman will advise the meeting of the evacuation procedures to 
follow in the event of an emergency. This is particularly important for 
visitors and members of the public who will be unfamiliar with the building 
and procedures. 

The Chairman will inform the meeting whether there is a planned 
evacuation drill due to take place, what the alarm sounds like (i.e. ringing 
bells), where the closest emergency exit route is, and where the second 
closest emergency exit route is, in the event that the closest exit or route 
is blocked. 

The Chairman will inform the meeting that: 

Public Document Pack



(a) in the event of the alarm sounding, everybody must leave the building 
via the nearest safe available exit and gather at the Assembly points at 
the far side of the Car Park.  Nobody must leave the assembly point until 
everybody can be accounted for and nobody must return to the building 
until the Chairman has informed them that it is safe to do so; and 
(b) the lifts must not be used in the event of an evacuation. 

Any officers present at the meeting will aid with the evacuation. 

It is important that the Chairman is informed of any person attending who 
is disabled or unable to use the stairs, so that suitable arrangements may 
be made in the event of an emergency. 

2. Apologies for Absence

3. Minutes

To approve the Minutes of the Meeting held on 4 October 2017 (Minute 
Nos. 250 - 264) as a correct record.

4. Declarations of Interest

Councillors should not act or take decisions in order to gain financial or 
other material benefits for themselves or their spouse, civil partner or 
person with whom they are living with as a spouse or civil partner.  They 
must declare and resolve any interests and relationships.

The Chairman will ask Members if they have any interests to declare in 
respect of items on this agenda, under the following headings:

(a) Disclosable Pecuniary Interests (DPI) under the Localism Act 
2011.  The nature as well as the existence of any such interest must be 
declared.  After declaring a DPI, the Member must leave the meeting and 
not take part in the discussion or vote.  This applies even if there is 
provision for public speaking.

(b) Disclosable Non Pecuniary (DNPI) under the Code of Conduct 
adopted by the Council in May 2012.  The nature as well as the existence 
of any such interest must be declared.  After declaring a DNPI interest, 
the Member may stay, speak and vote on the matter.

(c) Where it is possible that a fair-minded and informed observer, 
having considered the facts would conclude that there was a real 
possibility that the Member might be predetermined or biased the 
Member should declare their predetermination or bias and then leave the 
room while that item is considered.

Advice to Members:  If any Councillor has any doubt about the 
existence or nature of any DPI or DNPI which he/she may have in any 
item on this agenda, he/she should seek advice from the Monitoring 
Officer, the Head of Legal or from other Solicitors in Legal Services as 
early as possible, and in advance of the Meeting.



Part A Reports for Recommendation to Council

5. Review of Fees and Charges 1 - 34

6. Council Tax Support Scheme 2018/19 35 - 66

Part B Reports for Decision by Cabinet

7. Complaints, compliments and comments annual report 2016/17 67 - 74

8. Approval of Active Lives Framework for consultation 75 - 96

9. Minutes of the South Thames Gateway Building Control Joint Committee 
held on 21 September 2017

97 - 98

Issued on Monday, 30 October 2017

The reports included in Part I of this agenda can be made available in alternative formats. 
For further information about this service, or to arrange for special facilities to be provided at 
the meeting, please contact DEMOCRATIC SERVICES on 01795 417330. To find out 
more about the work of the Cabinet, please visit www.swale.gov.uk

Chief Executive, Swale Borough Council,
Swale House, East Street, Sittingbourne, Kent, ME10 3HT



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 
 

Cabinet Agenda Item:  5 

Meeting Date 8 November 2017 

Report Title Review of Fees & Charges 2018/19 

Cabinet Member Cllr Duncan Dewar-Whalley, Cabinet Member for Finance 
& Performance 

SMT Lead Nick Vickers, Chief Financial Officer 

Head of Service Nick Vickers, Chief Financial Officer 

Lead Officer Caroline Frampton, Principal Accountant 

Key Decision Yes 

Classification Open 

Forward Plan Reference number:  

Recommendations 1. That delegated authority be given to the Head of 
Economy & Community Services in consultation with 
the Chief Financial Officer and the Cabinet Member 
for Safer Families and Communities to increase the 
2018/19 charge for Environmental Fixed Penalty 
Notices for littering and graffiti so that they will 
continue to be set to the maximum limit set by the 
Government should this change during 2018/19. 
 

2. That the local land charges fees are implemented 1 
December 2017. 
 

3. To approve the proposed fees and charges 2018/19 
as set out in this report for submission to Council. 

 
 

1. Purpose of Report and Executive Summary 

1.1 This report invites Cabinet to consider the proposals for the level of fees and 
charges to be levied for the next financial year 2018/19.  Charges will take 
effect from 1 April 2018, with the exception of those for Local Land Charges, 
which will take effect from 1 December 2017 in order to assist consistency of 
charges across the shared services authorities. 

1.2 Appendix I details proposals on a service-by-service basis for the level of fees 
to be charged in 2018/19 on those services where this Council sets the 
charges.  Appendix II sets out the fees and charges which are set nationally by 
Government.  Appendix III details the income from fees and charges for 
services in 2016/17, and the budget for 2017/18. 

Page 1

Agenda Item 5



 

 

1.3 We do need to ensure that for discretionary services, where there is a choice 
over whether the local resident does choose to buy the service, they pay a 
level which covers costs and is reasonable in comparison to neighbouring 
councils. 

2. Background 

2.1 In 2017/18 the fees and charges budget covered by this report where the 
Council sets the level of fees or charges was £2.9 million (see Appendix III). 

2.2 Managers and all service areas were asked to review the current schedule of 
fees and charges for the forthcoming financial year.  

2.3 Authorities have a statutory duty to ensure fees are set in accordance with the 
Local Government Act 2003.  This allows local authorities to charge for 
discretionary services.  Discretionary services are those services that a council 
has the power to, but is not obliged to, provide.  A pre-condition to charging is 
the person has to agree to the provision of the service, and they are prepared 
to pay for it.  Some charges depend on relevant consultation being carried out 
by the service concerned. 

3. Proposals 

3.1 Appendix I details the proposed fees and charges to be set by the Council for 
2018/19; and Appendix II those that are set by Government or another 
external body. 

3.2 Table 1 below lists those charges set by the Council where an increase is not 
recommended at this time, and any increase in income shown here is due to 
volume not price increase.  Table 2 lists those charges set by the Council 
where an increase is recommended.  Table 3 lists those charges where some 
changes are proposed, with the majority of charges not changing.  Table 4 
lists proposed new charges for 2018/19. 

Table 1: Fees & Charges where an increase is not being recommended for 
2018/19 

Fee or Charge Comments 

Licensing – Gambling 
/Liquor/ Scrap Metal/ Sex 
Establishment/ Street 
Trading 

Fees are not changing.  A review will be undertaken in 
time for 2019/20.   

Radar Key for Disabled 
Toilets 

The fee covers cost of purchase.   

Travelling Fairs & Fetes Prices held to remain competitive in supply of land.  
This is a commercially competitive market.  We need to 
ensure prices are attractive enough to encourage 
continued return of fairs as this provides good income 
for subsidising other maintenance on open spaces. 

Page 2



 

 

Fee or Charge Comments 

Access over Open Space 
Licence 

Fee kept the same as covers administration process.   

Traffic Regulation Order 
Applications 

A new charge in 2017/18 so keeping the same to 
establish a market for use of this service.  In line with 
other authorities and Kent County Council’s (KCC) 
charges. 

CIEH Level 2 Award 
Training in Food Safety in 
Catering 

There is no increase in the fee to reflect the 
competitive training market in the region and the 
competition from cheaper on line courses.   

Requests for 
Environmental Information 
(e.g. planning, 
contaminated land) 

The hourly charge is based on advice from the 
Information Commissioner. 

Annual Animal Licensing 
(plus cost of vet 
inspection) 

The price of these licences has been determined as 
requested in Local Government Association (LGA) 
guidance on ‘locally set licence fees’.  Benchmarking 
exercises suggest that Swale is “mid table” when 
compared to other local authorities (LAs).   

Stray Dog Collection The charges are not changing.  The collection charge 
is set in legislation and the administration charges 
ensure reasonable payment rates without the need for 
additional administration. 

Pest Control The recently agreed pest control contract is based on 
the 2017/18 fees.  An increase in costs will not result in 
an increase in income to the Council. 

King George’s Pavilion Comparable price with other hirers. 

Guildhall Comparable price with other hirers. 

Town Centre Licence New fee with limited take-up due to conditions imposed 
within licence.   

Advertising Fees for Inside 
Swale 

Need to keep competitive with other local advertisers.   

Room Hire of Swale 
House 

The charges are recommended to remain the same, 
reflecting the market and demand. 

Staying Put Handyperson 
Rates 

The charges are contractual as set by KCC who fund 
the service and not at the Council’s discretion.   

Staying Put Private 
Disabled Works 

The charges are contractual as set by KCC who fund 
the service and not at the Council’s discretion.   

Staying Put Disabled 
Facilities Grant (DFG) 
Fees 

Fees charged as a percentage of total project cost to 
manage disabled works.  Currently 12.50% (maximum 
set by the Department of Housing).   

Page 3



 

 

Fee or Charge Comments 

Complaints Made under 
the High Hedges 
Legislation 

Minimal use – maximum two per year.  This represents 
costs of handling such a complaint. 

Planning Photocopying 
Charges 

This is a limited revenue source.  The charges reflect 
the cost of providing the service.   

Parking Penalty Charge 
Notices 

The fee/charge is not changing – statutory charge. 

Purchase of Electoral 
Register 

The fee/charge is not changing – statutory charge. 

Smoke and Carbon 
Monoxide Regulations 
2015 

Maximum fine set by statute.   

The Redress Scheme for 
Lettings Agency Work & 
Management Work Order 
2014 

Maximum fine set by statute. 

 

3.3 The following is a list of charges where an increase is recommended. 

Table 2: Fees & Charges where an increase is being recommended for 2018/19 

Fee or Charge Comments 

Street Naming & 
Numbering 

Inflationary increase of 3% added and rounded where 
necessary.   

Taxi Licensing The fees and charges recommendations were 
presented to the General Licensing Committee as the 
final stage of the consultation process.  Through 
reviewing the comments received during the 
consultation process, some of the charges have been 
modified.  The charges were approved by the 
Committee and were effective from 18 September 
2017.   

Outdoor Fitness Licence 
Fees 

Inflationary increase added and rounded where 
necessary.  New fee for 1-4 people introduced.  
Companies with lower participant numbers (or 121s) 
would proportionally pay more, but this gives the 
incentive to the company to maximise attendances to 
get the best value. 

Garden Waste Collections 
(brown bins – domestic) 

Increased charge in line with our Mid Kent Waste 
Partners - Ashford and Maidstone.   

Bulky Waste Collection Inflationary increase added and rounded where 
necessary. 

Page 4



 

 

Fee or Charge Comments 

Wheeled Bins There has been a significant increase in the purchase 
price of the lid in lid 140 litre food waste bin and the 
increased charge reflects this.  

The charge for food waste container (23 litre) is 
increasing to Ashford Borough Council’s proposed 
charge.  The charge for kitchen caddy (5 litre) is 
increasing to bring in line with Mid Kent Waste 
Partners.   

Sports Facilities Charges relating to seniors.  Inflationary increase 
added and rounded where necessary. 

Junior charges.  Above inflation increase as these 
stayed stationary over a number of years.  SBC 
currently subsidises the provision of sports pitches by 
approximately £80,000 a year.  Junior football has 
overtaken adult football in usage terms so we have 
seen a large drop in income.   

Allotments Inflationary increase added and rounded where 
necessary. 

Cemeteries Burial Fees Major review undertaken last year so just inflationary 
rates of increase this year, with the exception of two 
charges.   

“1st burial if no use of previously purchased grave 
Sittingbourne, Faversham & Murston”.  This fee is not 
used very often but was not increased last year so that 
meant the figure was higher than that of the 2nd burial.  
Correction made this year by using the rate of 
difference between 2nd and 3rd burials. 

“1st burial if no use of previously purchased grave 
Sheppey”.  This fee is not used very often but was not 
increased last year so that meant the figure was higher 
than that of the 2nd burial.  Correction made this year to 
mirror the 2nd burial at Sittingbourne and Faversham. 

Seafront Memorial Bench Inflationary increase added and rounded where 
necessary. 

Beach Hut Charges Inflationary increase added and rounded where 
necessary, with the exception of purchase of beach 
hut, which has a market sales price.   

Food Export Certificate There is a 3% inflationary increase for businesses in 
Swale.   

Registration Fee under 
the Local Government 
(Miscellaneous Provision) 
Act 

Increase of 3% to keep charge in line across the Mid 
Kent Environmental Health Service for this service. 

Page 5



 

 

Fee or Charge Comments 

Environmental – Fixed 
Penalty Notices (FPN) 

Majority of charges are not changing because they are 
set in legislation.   

The charge for refuse left out inappropriately is being 
reduced as the Deregulation Act 2015 reduces the 
previous level of FPN (£100) to a scale of between £60 
and £80.   

The dog fouling charge is increasing.  In October 2017 
all previous Dog Control Orders are to be replaced by 
Public Space Protection Orders. 

The Government currently sets the maximum limit for 
fixed penalties for littering and graffiti and is currently 
reviewing them.  Therefore, in the event of a change in 
these limits, the report requests that delegated 
authority be given in order to increase the proposed 
2018/19 charges for these penalties so they will 
continue to be set at the maximum limit set by the 
Government. 

Alleygate Key Slight increase due to rise in price of key from 
manufacturer.   

Legal Charges for Third 
Parties (Section 106 
contracts) 

The fee is proposed to increase to the nearest £ in line 
with inflation.  On the relatively few occasions when we 
have had to engage a private planning solicitor to draft 
Section106 agreements on our behalf their standard 
charging rate has been on a par or in excess of the 
proposed hourly rate, thus we are aware that we are 
charging developers an appropriate market rate. 

Home Inspection for 
Immigration Application 
Fee 

This charge is in line with other Kent authorities. 

Pre-Application Planning 
Advice 

A full review of the pre-application service including 
associated charges has recently been undertaken, with 
a view to increasing charges, particularly significant 
major planning applications more in line with those 
being set by other Local Planning Authorities in Kent. 

Local Land Charges Local Land Charges fees have been reviewed as they 
have remained static (except for VAT changes) since 
the formation of the Mid Kent Planning Support service 
in June 2014.  The fees have been aligned across the 
three Boroughs using the guidance on property search 
fees, and legal advice on Environmental Information 
Regulations fees.  This will lead to improved efficiency 
of service, clarity for customers and reflects the high 
quality service Mid Kent Local Land Charges 
customers receive. 

Page 6



 

 

Fee or Charge Comments 

Houses in Multiple 
Occupation Licensing 

Statute only allows for recovery of costs involved in 
managing and processing licence applications.  
Increased hourly rate cost.   

Mobile Home Site Licence 
Fee 

Statute allows only for recovery of costs involved in 
inspecting site/processing applications.  Any excess 
would need to be taken into account in the following 
year and fees would need to be reduced accordingly. 

Small sites (1-5 mobile homes and sites solely 
occupied by owners and family members) are not 
inspected as no benefit gained by inspecting sites of 
this size as they pose no risk and are generally all 
family owned and would take away resources from 
other areas.   

 
3.4 The following is a list of charges where some changes to fees are proposed or 

recommended with the majority of charges not changing. 

Table 3: Fees & Charges where some changes are proposed to charges for 
2018/19, with the majority of charges not changing 

Fee or Charge Comments 

Parking Permits On street parking permits for businesses is to increase 
to bring the charge in line with residents parking permit 
charges. 

 
3.5 The following is a list of charges where a new charge is proposed. 

Table 4: Fees & Charges where a new charge is proposed for 2018/19 

Fee or Charge Comments 

Car Parks & Season 
Tickets 

Car park pay and display charges and season tickets 
have undergone major reviews over the last two years.  
The majority of charges are not changing, with the 
exception of the following.  As part of the Sittingbourne 
Regeneration, there will be two new charges; one for 
the new cinema and one for the hotel. 

Car Parks – Loss of 
Parking Bays 

A new charge has been introduced to all pay and 
display car parks to recover any income lost as a result 
of an event or other activity resulting in the loss of pay 
and display parking bays.   

Car Parks 
Dispensation/Waivers 

Bay suspensions are used to manage on-street 
parking demand.  Although managed by our agent a 
fee has been applied to cover administration costs. 

Page 7



 

 

Fee or Charge Comments 

Disabled Parking Bay 
Application 

Other local authorities are starting to levy charges for 
this function.  The Government legislation allows a 
charge up to £250.  Thanet District Council charge 
£250 and Dartford Borough Council charge £250 but 
only if a full traffic order is required.  We receive 
approximately 50 applications a year.  The process is 
quite involved.  This will cover the cost of officer time 
but not the cost of physically marking out the bay.   

Additional Litter and Dog 
Bins 

Costs based on current purchase price from 
Procurement Framework.  Only includes standard 
supply.  If modifications requested then these will be 
charged extra. 

Wheeled Bins for 
Community Events 

Delivery/Collection charge for additional wheeled bins 
for events – This covers the costs of our cleansing 
contractor delivering the bin ahead of the event and 
then collecting afterwards.  

Wheelie bin hire for events - This is a per bin hire 
charge and includes the emptying and cleaning after 
the event.  This needs to be considered with the 
delivery/collection charge above. 

Bin Store Clearance Generally used where a bin collection has been 
refused on grounds of contamination.  They can 
choose to clear area themselves or pay us to do so.   

Harbour Mooring Fees Capturing a pre-existing charge that has not been 
published in this report.  Minimal income, just 
formalising the ability to charge.   

Food Hygiene Rating 
Scheme (fee to food 
businesses) 

The Food Standards Agency (FSA) has agreed that 
local authorities can introduce cost recovery for 
requests from food businesses to carry out revisits for 
Food Hygiene Rating Scheme rescores, under the 
Localism Act 2011.  There are clear guidelines for its 
implementation and the charge only applies to revisits 
where no statutory enforcement is being considered 
and therefore does not impact on our duty to protect 
public health. 

In line with other local authorities in Kent we are 
proposing to charge £160 per Food Hygiene Rating 
Scheme re-inspection. 

Private Water Supplies 
and Distribution 

This fee already exists, but has not been included in 
previous reports.  Charges have increased by 3% in 
line with the three authorities in the partnership.   

 
3.6 Below is a list of fees and charges set by the Government.  Where relevant, 

charges have been amended to reflect the current policy/advice. 

 Planning fees;   

Page 8



 

 

 Penalty charge notices for car parking/environmental response; 

 Statutory collection charge for stray dogs; 

 Liquor and gambling licences; 

 Environmental Protection Act fees; and 

 Electoral Services (including the purchase of the electoral register or 
edited register). 

4. Alternative Options 

4.1 The alternative would be to propose a general flat rate increase or no 
increases in fees or charges.  These alternatives are not recommended as 
they would fail to take into account statutory requirements, individual 
circumstances, or the increased cost of delivering services. 

5. Consultation Undertaken or Proposed 

5.1 Any necessary consultation will be undertaken by the managers of the 
relevant service area. 

5.2 There will be specific consultation required on changes to hackney carriages 
charges. 

5.3 Scrutiny Committee will be considering the proposals on 15 November before 
submission to Council on 22 November 2017. 

6. Implications 

Issue Implications 

Corporate Plan The income from fees and charges is a key component of 
the Council’s budget and supports the achievement of 
corporate priorities, including “A council to be proud of”. 

Financial, Resource 
and Property 

Work will continue on the detailed impact of the proposals.  
In proposing the new charges, consideration has been 
given to the likely impact on income levels given the 
anticipated response of service users to increases in 
charges. 

Legal and Statutory All proposals for charges reflect the relevant legislation. 

Crime and Disorder None identified. 

Sustainability None identified. 

Health and Wellbeing None identified. 

Risk Management and 
Health and Safety 

None identified. 

Page 9



 

 

Issue Implications 

Equality and Diversity Where there are underlying policy issues to any proposed 
changes in charges, these will be supported by a service 
equality impact assessment, and any necessary 
mitigations undertaken. 

 

7. Appendices 

7.1 The following documents are to be published with this report and form part of 
the report: 

 Appendix I: Proposed fees and charges for 2018/19 set by the Council;  

 Appendix II: Fees and charges set nationally by Government; and 

 Appendix III: Summary of fee income for 2017/18 budget. 
 

8. Background Papers 

8.1 None. 

 

Page 10



Appendix I 

Proposed fees and charges for 2018/19 set by the Council 
 

 

 

 2017/18 2018/19 

Charge VAT 
20% 

Total 
Charge 

Charge VAT 
20% 

Total 
Charge 

£ £ £ £ £ £ 

Car Parks and Season Tickets                                                                                                 Change 

Short Stay Covering: 

Faversham: Central car park (season tickets for business only), Institute Road car park (no season 
tickets)  

Sittingbourne: Albany Road, Central Avenue, Crown Quay Lane, The Forum, The Swallows, Swale 
House (weekends only), The Forum (business only), Station Street (up to 2 hours only).  Multi-Storey 
Car Park (when available, no season tickets). 

Sheerness (no season tickets): Rose Street (including land adjacent to Wood Street), Trinity Place, 
Beachfields 

Up to 30 minutes  0.42 0.08 0.50 0.42 0.08 0.50 

Up to 1 hour  0.83 0.17 1.00 0.83 0.17 1.00 

Up to 2 hours  1.67 0.33 2.00 1.67 0.33 2.00 

Up to 4 hours  3.33 0.67 4.00 3.33 0.67 4.00 

Season per quarter (for business 
only Central car park, Faversham/ 
Forum, Sittingbourne) 

195.83 39.17 235.00 195.83 39.17 235.00 

Sittingbourne Multi-Storey Car Park - Concessions 

Travelodge – preferential rate for 
hotel guests (for 24 hours) 

N/A N/A N/A 2.50 0.50 3.00 

Light Cinema – free parking to 
cinema customers after 6pm each 
day and all day on Sundays 

0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 

 
Long Stay Covering: 

Faversham: Partridge Lane, Queens Hall 

Sittingbourne: Spring Street, St Michael’s Road, Bell Road  

Sheerness: Albion Place, Beach Street, Bridge Road, Cross Street, Trinity Road 

Up to 30 minutes  0.42 0.08 0.50 0.42 0.08 0.50 

Up to 1 hour  0.83 0.17 1.00 0.83 0.17 1.00 

Up to 2 hours 1.67 0.33 2.00 1.67 0.33 2.00 

Up to 4 hours  3.33 0.67 4.00 3.33 0.67 4.00 

Over 4 hours  4.17 0.83 5.00 4.17 0.83 5.00 

Season per month (long stay car 
park) 

73.33 14.67 88.00 73.33 14.67 88.00 

Season per quarter (long stay car 
park) 

195.83 39.17 235.00 195.83 39.17 235.00 

 
       

Page 11



Appendix I 

Proposed fees and charges for 2018/19 set by the Council 
 

 

 

 2017/18 2018/19 

Charge VAT 
20% 

Total 
Charge 

Charge VAT 
20% 

Total 
Charge 

£ £ £ £ £ £ 

Long Stay Covering:       

Sittingbourne: Cockleshell Walk  

Up to 30 minutes  0.42 0.08 0.50 0.42 0.08 0.50 

Up to 1 hour 0.83 0.17 1.00 0.83 0.17 1.00 

Up to 2 hours  1.66 0.34 2.00 1.67 0.33 2.00 

Up to 4 hours  2.50 0.50 3.00 2.50 0.50 3.00 

Over 4 hours  3.33 0.67 4.00 3.33 0.67 4.00 

Season per month (long stay car 
park) 

73.33 14.67 88.00 73.33 14.67 88.00 

Season per quarter (long stay car 
park) 

195.83 39.17 235.00 195.83 39.17 235.00 

 
Leysdown: Promenade (seasonal) (all day between 1 March and 31 October) 

Up to 4 hours  1.75 0.35 2.10 1.75 0.35 2.10 

All day  2.83 0.57 3.40 2.83 0.57 3.40 

Motorcycles 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 

 
Season tickets (to be used at any long stay car park throughout the Borough) 

Season per quarter  208.33 41.67 250.00 208.33 41.67 250.00 

 
All pay and display car parks – loss 
of parking bays through events or 
other activities 

N/A N/A N/A Price on application.  
Average cost per bay per 

day for each bay lost 

 
Residents Only Parking Permits (off street) (5pm-9am evenings, weekends and bank holidays) 

Faversham: Central car park (residents of Cross Lane and Bank Street), Queens Hall (residents of 
Victoria Place and Dorset Place) 

Sheerness: Albion Place (residents of Harris Road, Portland Terrace and Albion Place), Cross Street 
(Sheerness town centre residents), Trinity Road (residents of Trinity Road only) 

Per quarter  16.67 3.33 20.00 16.67 3.33 20.00 

 
Sheerness: Delamark Road car park (residents only) 

Per quarter 12.50 2.50 15.00 12.50 2.50 15.00 

Residents’ Parking Permits (on street)                                                                             One Change 

Per annum 45.00 0.00 45.00 45.00 0.00 45.00 

Visitors permit book (10 days) 11.00 0.00 11.00 11.00 0.00 11.00 

Visitors parking permits (per day) 1.10 0.00 1.10 1.10 0.00 1.10 

Page 12



Appendix I 

Proposed fees and charges for 2018/19 set by the Council 
 

 

 

 2017/18 2018/19 

Charge VAT 
20% 

Total 
Charge 

Charge VAT 
20% 

Total 
Charge 

£ £ £ £ £ £ 

Hourly scratchcards (per hour) 1.10 0.00 1.10 1.10 0.00 1.10 

Hourly scratchcards (per book of 10 
hours) 

10.00 0.00 10.00 10.00 0.00 10.00 

Business per annum 40.00 0.00 40.00 45.00 0.00 45.00 

Dispensation Waivers / Suspensions                                                                                             New 

Maximum 1 day N/A N/A N/A 11.00 0.00 11.00 

Maximum 1 week N/A N/A N/A 33.00 0.00 33.00 

Maximum 3 months N/A N/A N/A 55.00 0.00 55.00 

Administration fee N/A N/A N/A 70.00 0.00 70.00 

 
Street Naming & Numbering                                                                                                      Change               

Changing or requesting new 
property  

63.00 0.00 63.00 64.80 0.00 64.80 

New street name 105.00 0.00 105.00 108.00 0.00 108.00 

New street developments (4 or more 
properties/units) per property/unit 
with minimum charge of £180 

42.00 0.00 42.00 43.20 0.00 43.20 

Provision of historical information 
relating to street naming & 
numbering  

26.25 0.00 26.25 27.00 0.00 27.00 

Changing street name  630.00 0.00 630.00 648.90 0.00 648.90 

 
Taxi Licensing                                                                                                                              Change 

Vehicle licence for 1 year  290.00 0.00 290.00 290.00 0.00 290.00 

Private Hire operator licence              
valid for 5 years 

430.00 0.00 430.00 430.00 0.00 430.00 

Six monthly check for when vehicle 
is between 5 and 10 years old 

60.00 0.00 60.00 60.00 0.00 60.00 

Licence and plate for temporary hire 
vehicle 

40.00 0.00 40.00 40.00 0.00 40.00 

Knowledge test – initial  25.00 0.00 25.00 25.00 0.00 25.00 

Knowledge test – re-sit  25.00 0.00 25.00 25.00 0.00 25.00 

Dual Badge for 1 year (for medical 
or over 70 years of age) 

N/A N/A N/A 50.00 0.00 50.00 

Dual Badge for 3 years 150.00 0.00 150.00 150.00 0.00 150.00 

Non-refundable plate fee (plate 
number only issued once) 

100.00 0.00 100.00 50.00 0.00 50.00 

Replacement plate  15.00 0.00 15.00 15.00 0.00 15.00 

Page 13



Appendix I 

Proposed fees and charges for 2018/19 set by the Council 
 

 

 

 2017/18 2018/19 

Charge VAT 
20% 

Total 
Charge 

Charge VAT 
20% 

Total 
Charge 

£ £ £ £ £ £ 

Change of address 10.00 0.00 10.00 10.00 0.00 10.00 

Change of ownership licensed 
vehicle 

35.00 0.00 35.00 35.00 0.00 35.00 

Disclosure Barring Service (DBS) 
search fee (every 3 years or £13.00 
per year if signed up to the DBS 
online service) 

44.00 0.00 44.00 44.00 0.00 44.00 

Dual driver badge replacement 9.50 0.00 9.50 10.00 0.00 10.00 

Replacement paper licence 
certificate 

10.50 0.00 10.50 10.00 0.00 10.00 

Change from Private Hire to 
Hackney Carriage 

90.00 0.00 90.00 80.00 0.00 80.00 

Change from Hackney Carriage to 
Private Hire 

70.00 0.00 70.00 80.00 0.00 80.00 

Failure to attend the vehicle test (10 
minutes prior to the test start time) 

27.40 0.00 27.40 27.40 0.00 27.40 

 
Outdoor Fitness Licence Fees (per annum)                 Change 

Once a week (1-4 people) N/A N/A N/A 80.00 0.00 80.00 

Once a week (5-15 people) 150.00 0.00 150.00 155.00 0.00 155.00 

2-4 times a week (5-15 people) 300.00 0.00 300.00 310.00 0.00 310.00 

5+ times a week (5-15 people) 500.00 0.00 500.00 515.00 0.00 515.00 

Once a week (16-35) 350.00 0.00 350.00 360.00 0.00 360.00 

2-4 times a week (16-35 people) 600.00 0.00 600.00 620.00 0.00 620.00 

5+ times a week (16-35 people) 1,000.00 0.00 1,000.00 1,030.00 0.00 1,030.00 

 
Garden Waste Subscription (brown bins – domestic)                                                             Change 

Fortnightly collection of garden 
waste including hire of bin  

Per annum – 26 collections 

35.00 0.00 35.00 37.00 0.00 37.00 

 
Bulky Waste Collections                                                                                                             Change 

Charge covers up to 4 bulky items.  
If fridge/fridge-freezer charge covers 
only one item, but any size  

23.00 0.00 23.00 25.00 0.00 25.00 

 
 

 

 

Page 14



Appendix I 

Proposed fees and charges for 2018/19 set by the Council 
 

 

 

 2017/18 2018/19 

Charge VAT 
20% 

Total 
Charge 

Charge VAT 
20% 

Total 
Charge 

£ £ £ £ £ £ 

Wheeled Bins                                                                                                                               Change 

Wheeled bins 140 litre 38.00 0.00 38.00 38.00 0.00 38.00 

Wheeled bins 180 litre 43.00 0.00 43.00 43.00 0.00 43.00 

Wheeled bins 240 litre 43.00 0.00 43.00 43.00 0.00 43.00 

Wheeled bins 1,100 litre 435.00 0.00 435.00 435.00 0.00 435.00 

Lid in lid 140 litre food waste bin 38.00 0.00 38.00 75.00 0.00 75.00 

Food waste container 23 litre 5.00 0.00 5.00 10.00 0.00 10.00 

Kitchen caddy 5 litre 1.00 0.00 1.00 5.00 0.00 5.00 

 
Additional Litter Bins                                                                                                          New Charge 

Wybone 145 litre galvanised - each N/A N/A N/A 250.00 50.00 300.00 

Ashmount - each N/A N/A N/A 205.00 41.00 246.00 

Admiral - each N/A N/A N/A 213.00 42.60 255.60 

Broxap Turvy - each N/A N/A N/A 208.00 41.60 249.60 

Admiral bin liner - each N/A N/A N/A 34.00 6.80 40.80 

Additional dog bin (56 litre) - each N/A N/A N/A 199.00 39.80 238.80 

Additional dog bin (60 litre) - each N/A N/A N/A 247.00 49.40 296.40 

Additional dog bin (heavy duty) - 
each 

N/A N/A N/A 638.00 127.60 765.60 

Bin store clearance – per occasion N/A N/A N/A 100.00 20.00 120.00 

Wheeled Bins for Community Events                                                                           

Provision of wheeled bins for events 
(cost per occasion) – 
delivery/collection charge 

N/A N/A N/A 79.00 15.80 94.80 

Wheeled bin hire (cost per bin) N/A N/A N/A 10.00 2.00 12.00 

Servicing of bins during event N/A N/A N/A Price on application  

 
Radar Key for Disabled Toilets                                                                                             No Change 

Fee 3.00 0.00 3.00 3.00 0.00 3.00 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 15



Appendix I 

Proposed fees and charges for 2018/19 set by the Council 
 

 

 

 2017/18 2018/19 

Charge VAT 
20% 

Total 
Charge 

Charge VAT 
20% 

Total 
Charge 

£ £ £ £ £ £ 

Sports Facilities                                                                                                                           Change 

With changing facilities and showers  

- Senior  58.33 11.67 70.00 60.00 12.00 72.00 

- Under 18s 16.67 3.33 20.00 20.00 4.00 24.00 

- Under 16s & mini soccer 12.50 2.50 15.00 15.00 3.00 18.00 

 
With changing facilities only 

- Senior  48.33 9.67 58.00 50.00 10.00 60.00 

- Under 18s 14.17 2.83 17.00 16.67 3.33 20.00 

- Under 16s & mini soccer  11.67 2.33 14.00 14.17 2.83 17.00 

 
With no facilities 

- Senior 28.75 5.75 34.50 34.17 6.83 41.00 

- Under 18s 12.50 2.50 15.00 15.00 3.00 18.00 

- Under 16s & mini soccer 7.92 1.58 9.50 9.17 1.83 11.00 

Block bookings of 10 or more series of lets is VAT exempt  

 
Allotments                                                                                                                                    Change 

Plots of 10 rods & pro rata 40.00 0.00 40.00 42.00 0.00 42.00 

Plots of 10 rods & pro rata 
(OAPs/Disabled) 

20.00 0.00 20.00 21.00 0.00 21.00 

 
Cemeteries Burial Fees                                                                                                               Change 

Exclusive Right of Burial, Interment, Memorial & Re-inscription Permits  

1st Burial Sittingbourne, Faversham 
& Murston  

1,834.00 0.00 1,834.00 1,887.00 0.00 1,887.00 

1st Burial Sheppey  1,681.00 0.00 1,681.00 1,730.00 0.00 1,730.00 

1st Burial if no use of previously 
purchased grave Sittingbourne, 
Faversham & Murston  

730.00 0.00 730.00 940.00 0.00 940.00 

1st Burial if no use of previously 
purchased grave Sheppey  

600.00 0.00 600.00 777.00 0.00 777.00 

2nd Burial Sittingbourne, Faversham 
& Murston  

755.00 0.00 755.00 777.00 0.00 777.00 

2nd Burial Sheppey  624.00 0.00 624.00 642.00 0.00 642.00 

3rd Burial Sittingbourne, Faversham 
& Murston  

624.00 0.00 624.00 642.00 0.00 642.00 

 

Page 16



Appendix I 

Proposed fees and charges for 2018/19 set by the Council 
 

 

 

 2017/18 2018/19 

Charge VAT 
20% 

Total 
Charge 

Charge VAT 
20% 

Total 
Charge 

£ £ £ £ £ £ 

Cremated Remains  

(includes Exclusive Rights to Burial, Interment, Memorial & Re-inscription Permit)  

1st Burial  577.00 0.00 577.00 594.00 0.00 594.00 

1st Burial (where no use has been 
made of previously purchased 
grave) 

210.00 0.00 210.00 216.00 0.00 216.00 

2nd Burial  210.00 0.00 210.00 216.00 0.00 216.00 

3rd Burial  210.00 0.00 210.00 216.00 0.00 216.00 

4th Burial  210.00 0.00 210.00 216.00 0.00 216.00 

Burial of loose ashes 95.00 0.00 95.00 100.00 0.00 100.00 

Child Coffin Burial  

Under 12 years of age in child’s plot 
(resident of Swale) 

0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 

Under 12 years of age in adult’s plot  
(resident of Swale) 

210.00 0.00 210.00 216.00 0.00 216.00 

Under 12 years of age in child’s plot 
(non-resident of Swale) 

140.00 0.00 140.00 144.00 0.00 144.00 

Under 12 years of age in adult’s plot 
(non-resident of Swale) 

340.00 0.00 340.00 350.00 0.00 350.00 

 
Ancillary Services  

Issue of letter of confirmation where 
deed is lost  

55.00 0.00 55.00 60.00 0.00 60.00 

Use of chapel in Sittingbourne 80.00 0.00 80.00 85.00 0.00 85.00 

Use of chapel in Faversham  110.00 0.00 110.00 115.00 0.00 115.00 

Planted grave (per annum) 110.00 0.00 110.00 115.00 0.00 115.00 

Turfed grave  At cost At cost 

Transfer of deed ownership  55.00 0.00 55.00 60.00 0.00 60.00 

Record search & certificate (each 
grave) 

30.00 0.00 30.00 30.00 0.00 30.00 

Extra cost of large coffin or casket 
(measuring 30 inches or more)  

150.00 0.00 150.00 155.00 0.00 155.00 

Exhumation of coffin  1,400.00 0.00 1,400.00 1,440.00 0.00 1,440.00 

Exhumation of cremated remains  280.00 0.00 280.00 290.00 0.00 290.00 

Other services (vatable)  At cost At cost 

Non-residents of Swale (not living in Swale at time of death or have not been a resident of Swale for at 
least 15 consecutive years) required to pay double the costs set out above (except child burials)  

Page 17



Appendix I 

Proposed fees and charges for 2018/19 set by the Council 
 

 

 

 2017/18 2018/19 

Charge VAT 
20% 

Total 
Charge 

Charge VAT 
20% 

Total 
Charge 

£ £ £ £ £ £ 

 
Seafront Memorial Bench                                                                                                           Change     

Memorial bench with basic 
installation  

605.00 121.00 726.00 625.00 125.00 750.00 

Memorial bench with concrete  
installation  

770.00 154.00 924.00 791.67 158.33 950.00 

 
Travelling Fairs and Fetes                                                                                                    No Change                 

Pitch premium for days open to the 
public only (per day) 

800.00 0.00 800.00 800.00 0.00 800.00 

 
Use of Council Land – Travelling Fairs 

On site fee payable whether or not 
open to the public (including arrival 
and departure days)  

56.00 0.00 56.00 56.00 0.00 56.00 

Refundable deposit  600.00 0.00 600.00 600.00 0.00 600.00 

Use of Council Land – Fetes 

Fetes  50.00 0.00 50.00 50.00 0.00 50.00 

Refundable deposit  62.00 0.00 62.00 62.00 0.00 62.00 

 
Beach Hut Charges                                                                                                                     Change 

Locations now at Minster Leas and Leysdown 

Ground rental 375.00 0.00 375.00 385.00 0.00 385.00 

Licence fee 1,000.00 200.00 1,200.00 1,029.17 205.83 1,235.00 

Purchase of beach hut 8,333.33 1,666.67 10,000.00 Market price 

 
Access Over Open Space Licence                                                                                       No Change                

Used for residential properties requiring access over our land to undertake works/deliveries etc. 

Standard fee 65.00 0.00 65.00 65.00 0.00 65.00 

 
Traffic Regulation Order Applications                                                                                 No Change 

On application (yellow lines and changes to existing orders) 

Small (1-30 consultations) 1,000.00 0.00 1,000.00 1,000.00 0.00 1,000.00 

Medium (31-50 consultations) 1,200.00 0.00 1,200.00 1,200.00 0.00 1,200.00 

Large (50+ consultations) 1,500.00 0.00 1,500.00 1,500.00 0.00 1,500.00 

On application (loading bays, single bays) 

Small (1-30 consultations) 500.00 0.00 500.00 500.00 0.00 500.00 

Medium (31-50 consultations) 750.00 0.00 750.00 750.00 0.00 750.00 

Page 18



Appendix I 

Proposed fees and charges for 2018/19 set by the Council 
 

 

 

 2017/18 2018/19 

Charge VAT 
20% 

Total 
Charge 

Charge VAT 
20% 

Total 
Charge 

£ £ £ £ £ £ 

Large (50+ consultations) 1,000.00 0.00 1,000.00 1,000.00 0.00 1,000.00 

No objections received (yellow lines and changes to existing orders) 

Small (1-30 consultations) 500.00 0.00 500.00 500.00 0.00 500.00 

Medium (31-50 consultations) 500.00 0.00 500.00 500.00 0.00 500.00 

Large (50+ consultations) 500.00 0.00 500.00 500.00 0.00 500.00 

No objections received (loading bays, single bays) 

Small (1-30 consultations) 250.00 0.00 250.00 250.00 0.00 250.00 

Medium (31-50 consultations) 250.00 0.00 250.00 250.00 0.00 250.00 

Large (50+ consultations) 250.00 0.00 250.00 250.00 0.00 250.00 

Objections received (JTB report) 

Small (1-30 consultations) 250.00 0.00 250.00 250.00 0.00 250.00 

Medium (31-50 consultations) 250.00 0.00 250.00 250.00 0.00 250.00 

Large (50+ consultations) 250.00 0.00 250.00 250.00 0.00 250.00 

       
Progress/implement scheme (yellow lines and changes to existing orders) 

Small (1-30 consultations) 500.00 0.00 500.00 500.00 0.00 500.00 

Medium (31-50 consultations) 600.00 0.00 600.00 600.00 0.00 600.00 

Large (50+ consultations) 700.00 0.00 700.00 700.00 0.00 700.00 

Progress/implement scheme (loading bays, single bays) 

Small (1-30 consultations) 100.00 0.00 100.00 100.00 0.00 100.00 

Medium (31-50 consultations) 100.00 0.00 100.00 100.00 0.00 100.00 

Large (50+ consultations) 100.00 0.00 100.00 100.00 0.00 100.00 

 
Disabled Parking Bay Application                                                                                      New Charge                

Per bay N/A N/A N/A 50.00 0.00 50.00 

 
Harbour Mooring Fees                                                                                                         New Charge                

Faversham Town Quay per night 7.50 1.50 9.00 7.50 1.50 9.00 

 
Street Trading Licensing                                                                                                       No Change 

Annual consents (not events) 100.00 0.00 100.00 100.00 0.00 100.00 

6 month consents (not events) 50.00 0.00 50.00 50.00 0.00 50.00 

One off consent  30.00 0.00 30.00 30.00 0.00 30.00 

 

 

Page 19



Appendix I 

Proposed fees and charges for 2018/19 set by the Council 
 

 

 

 2017/18 2018/19 

Charge VAT 
20% 

Total 
Charge 

Charge VAT 
20% 

Total 
Charge 

£ £ £ £ £ £ 

Event Consents                                                                                                                       

 1-19 stalls  65.00 0.00 65.00 65.00 0.00 65.00 

 20-49 stalls 130.00 0.00 130.00 130.00 0.00 130.00 

 50+ stalls 200.00 0.00 200.00 200.00 0.00 200.00 

 
Gambling Licensing                                                                                                              No Change 

New Applications/Applications for Provisional Statement 

Bingo club  2,268.00 0.00 2,268.00 2,268.00 0.00 2,268.00 

Betting premises  2,268.00 0.00 2,268.00 2,268.00 0.00 2,268.00 

Tracks  1,775.00 0.00 1,775.00 1,775.00 0.00 1,775.00 

Family entertainment centres  1,775.00 0.00 1,775.00 1,775.00 0.00 1,775.00 

Adult gaming centre  1,775.00 0.00 1,775.00 1,775.00 0.00 1,775.00 

 
Licence Applications (Provisional Statement Holders)  

Bingo club 935.00 0.00 935.00 935.00 0.00 935.00 

Betting premises  935.00 0.00 935.00 935.00 0.00 935.00 

Tracks  935.00 0.00 935.00 935.00 0.00 935.00 

Family entertainment centre  772.00 0.00 772.00 772.00 0.00 772.00 

Adult gaming centre  935.00 0.00 935.00 935.00 0.00 935.00 

 
Annual Fee 

Bingo club  703.00 0.00 703.00 703.00 0.00 703.00 

Betting premises  450.00 0.00 450.00 450.00 0.00 450.00 

Tracks  703.00 0.00 703.00 703.00 0.00 703.00 

Family entertainment centres  610.00 0.00 610.00 610.00 0.00 610.00 

Adult gaming centre 703.00 0.00 703.00 703.00 0.00 703.00 

 
Application to Vary  

Bingo club  1,550.00 0.00 1,550.00 1,550.00 0.00 1,550.00 

Betting premises  1,308.00 0.00 1,308.00 1,308.00 0.00 1,308.00 

Tracks  1,186.00 0.00 1,186.00 1,186.00 0.00 1,186.00 

Family entertainment centres  800.00 0.00 800.00 800.00 0.00 800.00 

Adult gaming centre  800.00 0.00 800.00 800.00 0.00 800.00 

Application to transfer  860.00 0.00 860.00 860.00 0.00 860.00 

Application for re-instatement  860.00 0.00 860.00 860.00 0.00 860.00 

Page 20



Appendix I 

Proposed fees and charges for 2018/19 set by the Council 
 

 

 

 2017/18 2018/19 

Charge VAT 
20% 

Total 
Charge 

Charge VAT 
20% 

Total 
Charge 

£ £ £ £ £ £ 

Copy licence  26.50 0.00 26.50 26.50 0.00 26.50 

Notification of change  26.50 0.00 26.50 26.50 0.00 26.50 

 
Permit Fees (FEC gaming machine and prize gaming) 

Application fee 300.00 0.00 300.00 300.00 0.00 300.00 

Renewal fee 300.00 0.00 300.00 300.00 0.00 300.00 

Transitional application fee 100.00 0.00 100.00 100.00 0.00 100.00 

Change of name 25.00 0.00 25.00 25.00 0.00 25.00 

Copy of permit  15.00 0.00 15.00 15.00 0.00 15.00 

 
Sex Establishment Licensing (sex shop, sex cinema and sex encounter venue)          No Change 

Application fee and 1st licence  4,200.00 0.00 4,200.00 4,200.00 0.00 4,200.00 

Annual licence renewal  650.00 0.00 650.00 650.00 0.00 650.00 

Application to vary 750.00 0.00 750.00 750.00 0.00 750.00 

Transfer of licence  25.00 0.00 25.00 25.00 0.00 25.00 

Duplicate licence  15.00 0.00 15.00 15.00 0.00 15.00 

 
Scrap Metal Dealers Licensing                                                                                             No Change 

Site licence  450.00 0.00 450.00 450.00 0.00 450.00 

Site licence renewal  425.00 0.00 425.00 425.00 0.00 425.00 

Collections licence, grant or renewal 210.00 0.00 210.00 210.00 0.00 210.00 

Variation – collector to site  70.00 0.00 70.00 70.00 0.00 70.00 

Variation – site to collector 50.00 0.00 50.00 50.00 0.00 50.00 

Variation (minor administration, 
such as change of address) 

30.00 0.00 30.00 30.00 0.00 30.00 

Change of site manager 100.00 0.00 100.00 100.00 0.00 100.00 

  
Food Export Certificate                                                                                                               Change 

For businesses in Swale  82.00 0.00 82.00 84.50 0.00 84.50 

Food in transit  30.00 0.00 30.00 30.00 0.00 30.00 

 
CIEH Level 2 Award Training in Food Safety in Catering                                                  No Change 

Fee charged to food handlers for 
training in food hygiene 

65.00 0.00 65.00 52.00 13.00 65.00 

 
 

 

Page 21



Appendix I 

Proposed fees and charges for 2018/19 set by the Council 
 

 

 

 2017/18 2018/19 

Charge VAT 
20% 

Total 
Charge 

Charge VAT 
20% 

Total 
Charge 

£ £ £ £ £ £ 

Registration Fee under the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provision) Act                    Change 

(Relates to establishments offering cosmetic piercing, electrolysis, tattooing or acupuncture) 

Standard fee 294.00 0.00 294.00 303.00 0.00 303.00 

Supplementary treatment 
registration fee 

(for additional beauty treatment 
registration inspection either at or 
after initial registration) 

50.00 0.00 50.00 51.50 0.00 51.50 

 
Requests for Environmental Information (e.g. contaminated land)                                  No Change 

Charge per hour 25.00 0.00 25.00 20.00 5.00 25.00 

Charges for photocopying apply at 10p per page plus postage 

 
Food Hygiene Rating Scheme                                                                                           New Change 

Fee to food businesses for re-visit 
and re-scoring  

N/A N/A N/A 160.00 0.00 160.00 

 
Private Water Supplies and Distribution                                                                                         New 

Risk assessment N/A N/A N/A 500.00 0.00 500.00 

Sampling N/A N/A N/A 100.00 0.00 100.00 

Investigation N/A N/A N/A 100.00 0.00 100.00 

Authorisation N/A N/A N/A 100.00 0.00 100.00 

Analysis – under Regulation 10 N/A N/A N/A 25.00 0.00 25.00 

Analysis – check monitoring comm. 
Supplies 

N/A N/A N/A 100.00 0.00 100.00 

Analysis – audit monitoring N/A N/A N/A 500.00 0.00 500.00 

 
Environmental - Fixed Penalty Notices  (FPN)                                                                                   
Change 

Fly tipping 400.00* 0.00 400.00* 400.00* 0.00 400.00* 

Abandoning a vehicle 120.00 0.00 120.00 120.00 0.00 120.00 

Smoking in an enclosed vehicle 
carrying a juvenile 

50.00 0.00 50.00 50.00 0.00 50.00 

Refuse left out inappropriately 100.00 0.00 100.00 80.00 0.00 80.00 

Littering and graffiti  80.00 0.00 80.00 80.00 0.00 80.00 

Dog fouling and other dog control 
orders 

80.00 0.00 80.00 100.00 0.00 100.00 

Fly posting 80.00 0.00 80.00 80.00 0.00 80.00 

Page 22



Appendix I 

Proposed fees and charges for 2018/19 set by the Council 
 

 

 

 2017/18 2018/19 

Charge VAT 
20% 

Total 
Charge 

Charge VAT 
20% 

Total 
Charge 

£ £ £ £ £ £ 

Waste carrier offences  300.00 0.00 300.00 300.00 0.00 300.00 

Smoking in a smoke free premises 
or vehicle 

50.00** 0.00 50.00** 50.00** 0.00 50.00** 

Failure to display no smoking signs 
in smoke free premises or vehicle 

200.00# 0.00 200.00# 200.00# 0.00 200.00# 

Failure to comply with a Community 
Protection Notice 

100.00 0.00 100.00 100.00 0.00 100.00 

Breach of any Public Space 
Protection Orders (PSPOs)  

100.00 0.00 100.00 100.00 0.00 100.00 

*Reduced to £300 if paid in full within 7 days 

**Reduced to £30.00 if paid within 15 days 

#Reduced to £150.00 if paid within 15 days 

 
Annual Animal Licensing (plus cost of vet inspection)                                                     No Change 

All animal boarding establishment licences and pet shop licences shall relate to the calendar year in 
which it is granted (or to the following year).  These licences will expire at the end of the calendar year 
for which they were issued.  Vet fees will also be applicable for licences.   

Dangerous wild animals  250.00 0.00 250.00 250.00 0.00 250.00 

Breeding of dogs  250.00 0.00 250.00 250.00 0.00 250.00 

Animal boarding establishments  250.00 0.00 250.00 250.00 0.00 250.00 

Riding establishments  250.00 0.00 250.00 250.00 0.00 250.00 

Pet shops  250.00 0.00 250.00 250.00 0.00 250.00 

Zoo licence 950.00 0.00 950.00 950.00 0.00 950.00 

Performing animal registration 135.00 
(one-off 

cost) 

0.00 135.00 
(one-off 

cost) 

135.00 
(one-off 

cost) 

0.00 135.00 
(one-off 

cost) 

 
Stray Dog Collection                                                                                                             No Change 

Statutory collection charge  25.00 0.00 25.00 25.00 0.00 25.00 

Administration fee for collection/ 
returned stray dogs  

30.00 0.00 30.00 30.00 0.00 30.00 

Out of hours administration fee or 
collection/returned stray dogs  

40.00 0.00 40.00 40.00 0.00 40.00 

Transport fee for returning dog to 
owner 

25.00 0.00 25.00 25.00 0.00 25.00 

 
Pest Control                                                                                                                           No Change 

Rats (per visit) with a minimum of 2 
visits required  

24.17 4.83 29.00  24.17 4.83 29.00  

Page 23



Appendix I 

Proposed fees and charges for 2018/19 set by the Council 
 

 

 

 2017/18 2018/19 

Charge VAT 
20% 

Total 
Charge 

Charge VAT 
20% 

Total 
Charge 

£ £ £ £ £ £ 

Rats (per visit) with a minimum of 2 
visits required – clients on benefits  

24.17 4.83 29.00 24.17 4.83 29.00 

Mice (per visit) with a minimum of 2 
visits required  

24.17 4.83 29.00 24.17 4.83 29.00 

Mice (per visit) with a minimum of 2 
visits required – clients on benefits  

24.17 4.83 29.00 24.17 4.83 29.00 

 
Wasps per nest  48.75 9.75 58.50 48.75 9.75 58.50 

Wasps per additional nest  8.33 1.67 10.00 8.33 1.67 10.00 

 
Fleas and other household pests 
(up to 6 rooms) 

58.33 11.67 70.00 58.33 11.67 70.00 

Each additional room (up to 4) 8.33 1.67 10.00 8.33 1.67 10.00 

 
Cockroaches in domestic premises 
(up to 6 rooms) 

58.33 11.67 70.00 58.33 11.67 70.00 

Each additional room (up to 4)  8.33 1.67 10.00 8.33 1.67 10.00 

Ants, insects etc.  25.00 5.00 30.00 25.00 5.00 30.00 

Ants, insects etc. – clients on 
benefits  

25.00 5.00 30.00 25.00 5.00 30.00 

 
Bed bugs (up to 4 bedroom house).  
Anything larger will require a survey  

233.33 46.67 280.00 233.33 46.67 280.00 

 
Hourly charge for treatments carried 
out on industrial and commercial 
properties (hourly rate)  

To be quoted by contractors 
(Goodwin Pest Management) 
on a job by job basis so as to 

remain competitive 

To be quoted by contractors 
(Goodwin Pest Management) 
on a job by job basis so as 

to remain competitive 

For treatments outside of normal 
office hours (hourly rate)  

As above As above 

Woodworm, birds, deathwatch 
beetle, foxes, moles & squirrels 

Price on application (surveys 
required) 

Price on application 
(surveys required) 

 
King George’s Pavilion (minimum 1 hour hire)                                                                  No Change 

Main hall/tea room (hourly rates) (minimum hire 1 hour)  

Main hall/tea room (hourly rates) 

Mon-Fri (9am-5pm) 10.00 0.00 10.00 10.00 0.00 10.00 

Mon-Fri (5pm-12am) 10.00 0.00 10.00 10.00 0.00 10.00 

Sat (9am-5pm) minimum 4 hours 10.00 0.00 10.00 10.00 0.00 10.00 

Sat (5pm-12am) minimum 4 hours 10.00 0.00 10.00 10.00 0.00 10.00 

 

Page 24



Appendix I 

Proposed fees and charges for 2018/19 set by the Council 
 

 

 

 2017/18 2018/19 

Charge VAT 
20% 

Total 
Charge 

Charge VAT 
20% 

Total 
Charge 

£ £ £ £ £ £ 

Playgroups (per morning) 25.00 0.00 25.00 25.00 0.00 25.00 

 
Tea room – for children’s parties 
only (per hour) minimum 1 hour hire  

8.00 0.00 8.00 8.00 0.00 8.00 

Caretaking services – set up and  
clear away: standard tables and/or 
chairs 

6.00 0.00 6.00 6.00 0.00 6.00 

Refundable deposits  150.00 0.00 150.00 150.00 0.00 150.00 

Bank Holidays, New Year’s Eve  2 times the Saturday rate 2 times the Saturday rate 

 
Guildhall (minimum 1 session hire)                                                                                     No Change 

Main hall (minimum 1 session) 

Session (am/pm) 40.00 0.00 40.00 40.00 0.00 40.00 

Refundable deposits 50.00 0.00 50.00 50.00 0.00 50.00 

Bank Holidays, New Year’s Eve 40.00 
per 

session 

0.00 40.00 
per 

session 

40.00 
per 

session 

0.00 40.00 
per 

session 

 
Alleygate Key                                                                                                                               Change 

Fee 15.86 3.17 19.03 17.92 3.58 21.50 

 
Town Centre Licence                                                                                                             No Change 

Licence for large events of 10,000 
people or more 

500.00 0.00 500.00 500.00 0.00 500.00 

 
Advertising Fees for Inside Swale (residents magazine)                                                   No Change    

Discounts are applied for multiple advertisers: 

2 issues 5% 

3 issues 7.5% 

4 issues 10% 

Outside back cover 650.00 130.00 780.00 650.00 130.00 780.00 

Internal full page 495.00 99.00 594.00 495.00 99.00 594.00 

Half internal page (portrait or 
landscape) 

275.00 55.00 330.00 275.00 55.00 330.00 

Quarter internal page 150.00 30.00 180.00 150.00 30.00 180.00 

Double internal page 895.00 179.00 1,074.00 895.00 179.00 1,074.00 

 
 

 

Page 25



Appendix I 

Proposed fees and charges for 2018/19 set by the Council 
 

 

 

 2017/18 2018/19 

Charge VAT 
20% 

Total 
Charge 

Charge VAT 
20% 

Total 
Charge 

£ £ £ £ £ £ 

Room Hire of Swale House                                                                                                   No Change            

Non-Commercial 

Council chamber (half day) 75.00 15.00 90.00 75.00 15.00 90.00 

Council chamber (full day) 125.00 25.00 150.00 125.00 25.00 150.00 

Committee room (half day) 50.00 10.00 60.00 50.00 10.00 60.00 

Committee room (full day) 75.00 15.00 90.00 75.00 15.00 90.00 

Assembly room (half day) 37.50 7.50 45.00 37.50 7.50 45.00 

Assembly room (full day) 62.50 12.50 75.00 62.50 12.50 75.00 

Commercial 

Council chamber (half day) 150.00 30.00 180.00 150.00 30.00 180.00 

Council chamber (full day) 250.00 50.00 300.00 250.00 50.00 300.00 

Committee room (half day) 100.00 20.00 120.00 100.00 20.00 120.00 

Committee room (full day) 150.00 30.00 180.00 150.00 30.00 180.00 

Assembly room (half day) 75.00 15.00 90.00 75.00 15.00 90.00 

Assembly room (full day) 125.00 25.00 150.00 125.00 25.00 150.00 

 
Charity groups or meetings where 
Swale residents will benefit 

No cost No cost 

 
Legal Charges for Third Parties                                                                                                 Change 

Hourly rate 210.00 0.00 210.00 216.00 0.00 216.00 

Note: VAT may be chargeable depending on the lease 

 
Home Inspection for Immigration Application Fee                                                                  Change 

Requests received to inspect and 
provide report on suitability of 
proposed home in connection with 
immigration applications 

95.00 19.00 114.00 105.00 21.00 126.00 

 
Staying Put Handyperson Rates                                                                                          No Change 

Hourly rate for a handyperson 13.50 2.70 16.20 13.50 2.70 16.20 

Subsidised hourly rate for a 
handyperson – client in receipt of 
benefits 

5.00 1.00 6.00 5.00 1.00 6.00 

Private disabled works (household 
not eligible for DFG) 

150.00 0.00 150.00 150.00 0.00 150.00 

Disabled Facilities Grant (DFG) fee 
(statutory % charge) 

12.5% 12.5% 

Page 26



Appendix I 

Proposed fees and charges for 2018/19 set by the Council 
 

 

 

 2017/18 2018/19 

Charge VAT 
20% 

Total 
Charge 

Charge VAT 
20% 

Total 
Charge 

£ £ £ £ £ £ 

 
Pre-Application Planning Advice                                                                                               Change 

Meetings 

Very large major 833.33 166.67 1,000.00 1,666.66 333.34 2,000 

Major 416.67 83.33 500.00 833.33 166.67 1,000 

Minor 208.33 41.67 250.00 416.67 83.33 500.00 

Other (excluding householders and 
listed buildings) 

83.33 16.67 100.00 125.00 25.00 150.00 

Charities, voluntary groups and 
parish councils 

0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 

Works/repairs to listed buildings 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 

 
Letters 

Very large major 416.67 83.33 500.00 833.33 166.67 1,000 

Major 208.33 41.67 250.00 416.67 83.33 500.00 

Minor 104.17 20.83 125.00 208.33 41.67 250.00 

Other (excluding householders and 
listed buildings) 

41.67 8.33 50.00 62.50 12.50 75.00 

Householder 20.83 4.17 25.00 41.67 8.33 50.00 

Charities, voluntary groups and 
parish councils 

0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 

Works/repairs to listed buildings 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 

 
Very large major: over 200 dwellings or 4 hectares.  Commercial over 10,000m2 or 2 hectares 

Major: 10-199 dwellings or less than 4 hectares.  Commercial 1,000m2 –  9,999m2 or less than 2 
hectares 

Minor: 1-9 dwellings or less than 0.5 hectares.  Commercial less than 1,000m2  or 1 hectare 

 
Complaints made under the High Hedges Legislation                                                      No Change 

Standard fee 450.00 0.00 450.00 450.00 0.00 450.00 

 
Planning Photocopying Charges                                                                                         No Change 

 Charges per page Charges per page 

A4 Black/white 0.08 0.02 0.10 0.08 0.02 0.10 

A3 Black/white 0.16 0.04 0.20 0.16 0.04 0.20 

A2 Or larger 2.50 0.50 3.00 2.50 0.50 3.00 

A4 Colour 0.62 0.13 0.75 0.62 0.13 0.75 

Page 27



Appendix I 

Proposed fees and charges for 2018/19 set by the Council 
 

 

 

 2017/18 2018/19 

Charge VAT 
20% 

Total 
Charge 

Charge VAT 
20% 

Total 
Charge 

£ £ £ £ £ £ 

A3 Colour 1.25 0.25 1.50 1.25 0.25 1.50 

 
Local Land Charges                                                                                                                    Change 

Official Searches 

LLC1 only 36.30 0.00 36.30 35.00 0.00 35.00 

LLC1 only - additional parcel N/A N/A N/A 10.00 0.00 10.00 

Con 29 79.20 0.00 79.20 95.00 19.00 114.00 

Con 29 - additional parcel N/A N/A N/A 15.00 3.00 18.00 

Standard search (LLC1 & Con29) 115.50 0.00 115.50 130.00 19.00* 149.00 

Standard search (LLC1 & Con29) – 
additional parcel 

36.30 0.00 36.30 25.00 3.00* 28.00 

Part II enquiry - Con29 questions 4-
21 

N/A N/A N/A 10.00 2.00 12.00 

Part II enquiry - Con29 question 22 N/A N/A N/A 24.00 4.80 28.80 

Additional questions N/A N/A N/A 18.33 3.67 22.00 

*VAT applicable only to the Con29 part of the charge.   

 
Personal Searches 

 
1.1 (a-l) (Planning) N/A N/A N/A 5.00 1.00 6.00 

1.1 (J, K, L) (B. Regs) N/A N/A N/A 5.00 1.00 6.00 

2.1 (b-d) N/A N/A N/A 5.00 1.00 6.00 

3.1 Land for public purpose N/A N/A N/A 2.50 0.50 3.00 

3.3 Drainage matters N/A N/A N/A 2.50 0.50 3.00 

3.5 Railway schemes N/A N/A N/A 2.50 0.50 3.00 

3.7 Outstanding Notices N/A N/A N/A 10.00 2.00 12.00 

3.8 B. Regs Contravention N/A N/A N/A 2.50 0.50 3.00 

3.9 Enforcement N/A N/A N/A 5.00 1.00 6.00 

3.10 CILs N/A N/A N/A 2.50 0.50 3.00 

3.12 Compulsory purchase N/A N/A N/A 2.50 0.50 3.00 

3.13b Contaminated land N/A N/A N/A 2.50 0.50 3.00 

3.13c Contaminated land N/A N/A N/A 2.50 0.50 3.00 

 

Page 28



Appendix II 
 

Fees and charges set nationally by Government 
 

 

 

 2017/18 2018/19 

Charge VAT 
20% 

Total 
Charge 

Charge VAT 
20% 

Total 
Charge 

£ £ £ £ £ £ 

Car Parks Fixed Penalty Notices (rate depends on offence)                                             No Change 

Lower Penalty System 

Up to 14 Days  25.00 0.00 25.00 25.00 0.00 25.00 

14 days to 56 days 50.00 0.00 50.00 50.00 0.00 50.00 

57 days to 70 days  75.00 0.00 75.00 75.00 0.00 75.00 

After 70 days  82.00 0.00 82.00 82.00 0.00 82.00 

 
Higher Penalty System                                                                                                           

Up to 14 days 35.00 0.00 35.00 35.00 0.00 35.00 

14 days to 56 days  70.00 0.00 70.00 70.00 0.00 70.00 

57 days to 70 days 105.00 0.00 105.00 105.00 0.00 105.00 

After 70 days 112.00 0.00 112.00 112.00 0.00 112.00 

 
Dispensation/Waivers                                                                                                          New charge 

Maximum 1 day N/A N/A N/A 11.00 0.00 11.00 

Maximum 1 week N/A N/A N/A 33.00 0.00 33.00 

Maximum 3 months N/A N/A N/A 55.00 0.00 55.00 

Admin fee N/A N/A N/A 70.00 0.00 70.00 

 
Liquor Licensing                                                                                                                    No Change 

Main Application Fees for Premises and Personal Liquor Licensing 

Rateable Value B and A  100.00 0.00 100.00 100.00 0.00 100.00 

Rateable Value B and B 190.00 0.00 190.00 190.00 0.00 190.00 

Rateable Value B and C  315.00 0.00 315.00 315.00 0.00 315.00 

Rateable Value B and D  450.00 0.00 450.00 450.00 0.00 450.00 

Rateable Value B and E 635.00 0.00 635.00 635.00 0.00 635.00 

Main Annual Charge for Premises and Personal Liquor Licensing 

Rateable Value B and A 70.00 0.00 70.00 70.00 0.00 70.00 

Rateable Value B and B 180.00 0.00 180.00 180.00 0.00 180.00 

Rateable Value B and C  295.00 0.00 295.00 295.00 0.00 295.00 

Rateable Value B and D 320.00 0.00 320.00 320.00 0.00 320.00 

Rateable Value B and E 350.00 0.00 350.00 350.00 0.00 350.00 

 
Personal licence for alcohol  37.00 0.00 37.00 37.00 0.00 37.00 

Page 29



Appendix II 
 

Fees and charges set nationally by Government 
 

 

 

 2017/18 2018/19 

Charge VAT 
20% 

Total 
Charge 

Charge VAT 
20% 

Total 
Charge 

£ £ £ £ £ £ 

Personal licence change  10.50 0.00 10.50 10.50 0.00 10.50 

Premises licence change  23.00 0.00 23.00 23.00 0.00 23.00 

Transfers  23.00 0.00 23.00 23.00 0.00 23.00 

Temporary events  21.00 0.00 21.00 21.00 0.00 21.00 

Register of interests  21.00 0.00 21.00 21.00 0.00 21.00 

 
 

Purchase of Electoral Register                                                                                             No Change 

Full Register and the Notices of Alteration 

Hard copies (standard charge) plus 
charge (a) below 

10.00 0.00 10.00 10.00 0.00 10.00 

  (a) charge for each 1,000 entries 5.00 0.00 5.00 5.00 0.00 5.00 

 
Data format (standard charge) plus 
charge (b) below 

20.00 0.00 20.00 20.00 0.00 20.00 

  (b) charge for each 1,000 entries 1.50 0.00 1.50 1.50 0.00 1.50 

 
List of Overseas Electors 

Hard copies (standard charge) plus 
charge (c) below 

10.00 0.00 10.00 10.00 0.00 10.00 

  (c) charge per 100 entries 5.00 0.00 5.00 5.00 0.00 5.00 

 
Data format (standard charge) plus 
charge (d) below 

20.00 0.00 20.00 20.00 0.00 20.00 

  (d) charge per 100 entries 1.50 0.00 1.50 1.50 0.00 1.50 

 
Edited Register 

(Available for purchase by anyone) 

Hard copies (standard charge) plus 
charge (e) below 

10.00 0.00 10.00 10.00 0.00 10.00 

  (e) charge per 1,000 entries 5.00 0.00 5.00 5.00 0.00 5.00 

 
Data format (standard charge) plus 
charge (f) below 

20.00 0.00 20.00 20.00 0.00 20.00 

  (f) charge per 1,000 entries 1.50 0.00 1.50 1.50 0.00 1.50 

 
Houses in Multiple Occupation Licensing                                                                                Change 

New Application 

Non-accredited landlord 632.00 0.00 632.00 638.00 0.00 638.00 

Page 30



Appendix II 
 

Fees and charges set nationally by Government 
 

 

 

 2017/18 2018/19 

Charge VAT 
20% 

Total 
Charge 

Charge VAT 
20% 

Total 
Charge 

£ £ £ £ £ £ 

Accredited landlord 518.00 0.00 518.00 523.00 0.00 523.00 

 
Renewal of Application 

Non-accredited landlord 477.00 0.00 477.00 482.00 0.00 482.00 

Accredited landlord 363.00 0.00 363.00 367.00 0.00 367.00 

 
 
 

Mobile Home Site Licence Fee                                                                                                   Change 

New Mobile Home Site Licence Application Fee 

1-5 mobile homes on site 142.00 0.00 142.00 144.00 0.00 144.00 

6-24 mobile homes on site 196.00 0.00 196.00 198.00 0.00 198.00 

25-99 mobile homes on site 248.00 0.00 248.00 289.00 0.00 289.00 

100+ mobile homes on site 285.00 0.00 285.00 289.00 0.00 289.00 

Annual Mobile Home Site Inspection Fee 

Relevant sites occupied solely by 
owners and family members 

No charge No charge 

1-5 mobile homes on site No charge No charge 

6-24 mobile homes on site 160.00 0.00 160.00 162.00 0.00 162.00 

25-99 mobile homes on site 196.00 0.00 196.00 143.00 0.00 143.00 

100+ mobile homes on site 231.00 0.00 231.00 234.00 0.00 234.00 

 
Fee to Transfer or Amend Mobile Home Site Licence 

Transfer or amend mobile home site 
licence 

89.00 0.00 89.00 105.00 0.00 105.00 

 
Fee for the Deposit of Mobile Home Site Rules 

Deposit of mobile home site rules 132.00 0.00 132.00 143.00 0.00 143.00 

 
Smoke and Carbon Monoxide Regulations 2015                                                              No Change 

Fine level progresses to maximum fine permitted (1st offence £1,500, 2nd £2,500, 3rd £5,000) 

Penalty charge for non-compliance 
of Smoke or CO Alarm Regulations 

5,000.00 0.00 5,000.00 5,000.00 0.00 5,000.00 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 31



Appendix II 
 

Fees and charges set nationally by Government 
 

 

 

 2017/18 2018/19 

Charge VAT 
20% 

Total 
Charge 

Charge VAT 
20% 

Total 
Charge 

£ £ £ £ £ £ 

The Redress Scheme for Lettings Agency Work & Management                                   No Change 
  Work Order 2014 

Fine level progresses to maximum fine permitted (1st offence £2,500, 2nd £5,000) 

Penalty charge for non-compliance 
of Redress Scheme for Letting 
Agents Order 

5,000.00 0.00 5,000.00 5,000.00 0.00 5,000.00 

 
 

Planning Fees 
 

Planning fees are currently set by the Government, although this is currently being reviewed.  The full 
details of current Planning fees can be found on www.swale.gov.uk/types-of-application-and-fees/ 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 32



Appendix III 
 

List of income from fees and charges for 2017/18 budgets 
 

 

 

Charges set by the Council 

Service Charge 2017/18 
Budget 

£ 

Commissioning & Customer Contact Car parks and season tickets 1,674,900 

Commissioning & Customer Contact Garden waste collections (brown 
bins) 

367,500 

Commissioning & Customer Contact Residents parking permits (including 
voucher parking for visitors parking 
in residential bays) 

97,000 

Commissioning & Customer Contact Cemeteries burial fees 114,960 

Commissioning & Customer Contact Bulky waste collections 57,000 

Commissioning & Customer Contact Residential wheeled bins 20,500 

Commissioning & Customer Contact Street naming and numbering 15,000 

Commissioning & Customer Contact Beach hut charges 0 

Commissioning & Customer Contact Seafront memorial bench 1,000 

Commissioning & Customer Contact Travelling fetes & fairs and access 
over open space licence 

11,780 

Commissioning & Customer Contact Sports facilities 11,500 

Commissioning & Customer Contact Allotments 1,000 

Commissioning & Customer Contact Radar keys for disabled toilets 210 

Corporate Services Taxi (Hackney Carriage) licensing 64,300 

Corporate Services Legal services charges, including 
S106 application fees 

28,660 

Corporate Services Hire of meeting rooms at Swale 
House 

100 

Economic & Cultural Services Fixed penalty notices – 
environmental response 

3,000 

Economic & Cultural Services King George’s Pavilion 13,980 

Economic & Cultural Services Advertising fees for Inside Swale 5,000 

Economic & Cultural Services Annual animal licences 10,500 

Economic & Cultural Services Stray dog collection 9,000 

Economic & Cultural Services Pest control treatments 2,000 

Economic & Cultural Services Alleygate key 50 

Economic & Cultural Services Guildhall 600 

Economic & Cultural Services Town Centre Licence 0 

Housing Stayput handyperson charges 2,200 

Housing Home inspection for immigration 
application fee 

100 

Page 33



Appendix III 
 

List of income from fees and charges for 2017/18 budgets 
 

 

 

Charges set by the Council 

Service Charge 2017/18 
Budget 

£ 

Mid-Kent Environmental Health 
Service 

CIEH Level 2 Award Training in 
Food Safety in Catering 

500 

Mid-Kent Environmental Health 
Service 

Registration fee under the Local 
Government (Misc Provisions) Act 

1,500 

Mid-Kent Environmental Health 
Service 

Request for environmental 
information 

1,000 

Mid-Kent Environmental Health 
Service 

Food export certificate 100 

Planning Local land charges 210,000 

Planning Pre-application planning advice fees 60,000 

Planning S106 Monitoring fees 65,000 

Planning Photocopying charges 2,000 

Total fees and charges agreed as part of this report 2,851,940 

 

Charges set by Government or an External Body 

Service Charge 2017/18 
Budget 

£ 

Commissioning & Customer Contact Fixed penalty notices – parking 474,890 

Corporate Services Licences (premises and liquor, 
street trading, sex establishments 
and scrap metal)  

99,500 

Corporate Services Purchase of electoral register 1,500 

Housing Houses in multiple occupation 500 

Housing Mobile home site licence fee 0 

Housing Smoke or CO Alarm Regulations 
Redress Scheme for Lettings 
Agency Work & Management Work 
Order 2014 

0 

Planning Planning fees – 
www.swale.gov.uk/types-of-
application-and-fees/ 

668,800 

Total fees and charges set nationally and by external bodies 1,245,190 

 
 

Page 34



Cabinet 8 November 2017 Agenda Item: 6 

Meeting Date 8 November 2017 

Report Title Council Tax Support Scheme 2018/19  

Cabinet Member Cllr Duncan Dewar-Whalley, Cabinet Member for Finance 
and Performance 

SMT Lead Emma Wiggins 

Head of Service Amber Christou  

Lead Officer Zoe Kent 

Recommendations 1. To note the outcome of the public consultation having 
taken consideration of the potential impact of the 
proposed changes on working age claimants with the 
protected characteristics of disability, age and sex 
under the Equalities Act 2010. 

2. To recommend changes to the current scheme as 
listed in paragraph 3.7.  

 

1 Purpose of Report and Executive Summary 
 
1.1 The Council Tax Support Scheme (CTS) was introduced by the Department for 

Communities and Local Government (DCLG) in April 2013 as a replacement for 
Council Tax Benefit (CTB) administered on behalf of the Department for Work 
and Pensions (DWP).  Each year the local Scheme must be approved by Full 
Council by 31 January. 

 
1.2 The purpose of this report is, having noted the outcome of the public consultation 

and having considered the potential impact of the proposed changes on working 
age claimants taking into account the protected characteristics of disability, age 
and sex, under the Equalities Act 2010, to recommend changes to the current 
CTS scheme listed in paragraph 3.7. 

 

2 Background 
 
2.1 Prior to the introduction of the scheme in April 2013 the Kent authorities worked 

together to design a CTS scheme.  A common approach was adopted across 
Kent, with the new scheme broadly replicating the former CTB scheme, but with a 
basic reduction in entitlement for working age claimants. 

 
2.2 As part of its introduction, central government set out a number of key elements: 

 the duty to create a local scheme for working age applicants was placed 
with billing authorities; 

Page 35

Agenda Item 6



 government funding was reduced initially by the equivalent of 10% from the 
levels paid through benefit subsidy to authorities under the previous CTB 
scheme; and 

 persons of pension age, although allowed to apply for CTS, would be dealt 
with under regulations prescribed by central government, and not the 
authorities’ local scheme. 

 
2.3 In Swale, under the current scheme working age claimants must pay at least 20% 

of their Council Tax liability.  Although there is a common approach across Kent, 
local schemes at district level have been tailored to local needs, so in other parts 
of Kent the percentage varies. 

 
2.4 The Kent districts have been able to use the changes to the empty property 

discounts to vary the amount working age claimants pay towards their liability.  
Since its introduction in April 2013, our own local scheme has been reviewed 
annually; however; the core elements remain as were originally agreed. 

 
2.5 Under the Kent-wide agreement the major precepting authorities agreed to 

collectively pay to each district council an administration fee of £125,000 each 
year, for three years, to assist with the costs of delivery of the scheme.  
 

2.6 It has been recognised by the Kent Finance Officers Group that the contributions 
that the major precepting authorities make towards the administration of the 
scheme are essential.  It was therefore agreed to base the allocation of the 
administration fee on the size of the caseload. Swale has been allocated 
£141,600 administration fee for 2017/18, the second highest award in Kent. 

 
2.7 When the new scheme started in April 2013, it resulted in approximately 5,000 

households within the Borough paying some council tax for the first time.  In 
addition, approximately 2,500 other households who received partial assistance 
saw increases in their bills. 

 
2.8 Collection of the council tax balances in these cases has been challenging.  

However, with focus on these accounts and some changes to recovery 
processes, the scheme has been successful.  The administrative fee paid by the 
major preceptors has been essential in assisting with the cost of the recovery of 
these debts. 

 
2.9 The overall level of applicants, both working age and pension age, has fallen 

since the introduction of CTS to 9,948 as at 1 April 2017, compared with 13,381 
as at 1 April 2013.  This is mainly due to a reduction in unemployment, the rise of 
the pension age and changes brought into the scheme from April 2017.  As a 
result, the total cost of the scheme has reduced since its inception. 

 
2.10 However, the initial ‘90%’ funding that the government passed on to authorities 

through Revenue Support Grant to support the costs of local schemes has 
effectively been cut as part of the wider reductions in local government financial 

Page 36



settlements.  Therefore, although costs have reduced due to a lower claimant 
base, the outcome is that a greater share of the cost burden is falling on the 
billing authorities and the other major precepting bodies.  This outcome has been 
one of the main catalysts for undertaking the review. 

Table 1: CTS expenditure by year 

Year Expenditure 

2013/14 £10,712,895 

2014/15 £  9,940,783 

2015/16 £  9,801,120 

2016/17 £  9,723,402 

2017/18        £  8.950,857 

 
2.11 To support the review a consultant who has previously advised all Kent districts 

on their CTS schemes has been appointed.  The consultant has been assisting in 
the evaluation of alternative scheme models and the public consultation process. 

 
2.12 As in 2017/18 the objectives that have been agreed are to: 

(i) have regard to the reductions in government grant and the financial 
pressures we face; 

(ii) make the scheme less costly (if possible), and more efficient in terms of its 
operation; and 

(iii) have regard to the impact such changes may have on vulnerable residents, 
and target support to those most in need. 

 
 

3       Proposal 
 

3.1 Consideration has been given to a range of options for potential change, having 
regard to the objectives set out in paragraph 2.12 and the suitability for Swale. 

 
3.2 The conclusion is that the most practical option would be to maintain a scheme 

similar to our current scheme.  The reasoning behind this is: 

(i) it is known to our claimants; 

(ii) it largely mirrors the housing benefit system 

(iii) our software systems are adapted for this type of scheme and would, 
therefore, require little additional cost to update; 

(iv) our staff are familiar with the administration of this type of scheme; and 

(v) as it is also aligned to housing benefit, we can continue to take advantage of 
economies of scale. 

 
 

3.3 Collection of Council Tax from working age claimants since the commencement 
of the scheme is shown in table 2 below. Prior to the first year of the scheme 

Page 37



Swale accepted a grant from DCLG which limited the amount claimants had to 
pay to a minimum of 8.5%, leading to a highest collection rate for 2013/14. There 
was a dip in collection in 2014/15 when the amount to be paid doubled. Collection 
since then has risen as claimants have adjusted to budgeting for this amount. It is 
likely that if the amounts that working age claimants have to pay continues to rise, 
collection rates will start to fall.  

 
Table 2: Percentage collected by year 
 

Year Minimum % paid by 
working age 
claimants 

Percentage 
collected 

2013/14 8.5% 87.59% 

2014/15 15% 81.80% 

2015/16 15% 85.30% 

2016/17 15% 85.80% 

2017/18 20% 52.5% * 
           *2017/18 figure as at 09.10.2017 

 
3.4 Given the objectives of the review set out at 2.12, it is important that we seek to 

reduce the overall costs of the scheme whilst maintaining fairness and the 
feasibility of the scheme.  Therefore, it is considered that a locally determined 
selection of the options set out in Appendix I should be included as part of the 
consultation on Swale’s scheme for 2018/19. 
 

3.5 The Council went out to consultation on these options for a 6 week period ending 
on 28 August 2017 via a direct email to approximately 13,000 households. The 
results of the consultation are contained in Appendix I. 
 

3.6 Given the financial challenge facing the Council, it is recommended that the 
Council implements, the changes set out within the consultation, subject to the 
amendments set out in Table 3. To give working age claimants some stability it is 
recommended that the scheme is not changed in 2019/20.   

 
Table 3: Council Tax Support Options 

Option Recommendation  

Option 1 - Reducing the maximum 
level of support for working age 
applicants from 80 per cent to 77.5 
or 75 per cent.  

Implement at 75% Consultation findings support 
change to reducing the 
maximum level of support for 
working age applicants to 75 
per cent. 

Option 2 - Reducing the capital 
limit from the existing £16,000 to 
£10,000 or £6,000 

Implement limiting 
to £10,000. 

Consultation findings support 
change to reduce the capital 
limit to £10,000. 

Option 3 - Restricting the level of 
the maximum level of Council Tax 

Implement Consultation findings support 
change to restrict the 

Page 38



Support payable to the equivalent 
of a Band D charge 

maximum level of Council Tax 
Support payable to the 
equivalent of a Band D 
charge. 

Option 4 - Applying a fixed 
income period to Universal Credit 
claims for Council Tax Support to 
avoid multiple changes 

Implement  Consultation findings support 
bringing in this change for 
Universal Credit claims. This 
option limits the number of 
adjustments to a claimant’s 
Council Tax account during 
the year. If this option was not 
implemented there could be 
12 Universal Credit monthly 
changes on an account during 
a year, meaning if payments 
were not made, recovery 
action could not be taken 
during the financial year.  

Option 5 - Applying a tolerance to 
Universal Credit claims for Council 
Tax Support to avoid multiple 
changes 

Not recommended Consultation findings give the 
least support to this change. 
Option 4 received more 
support compared with this 
option. In order that Universal 
Credit claims do not have to 
be reviewed every month 
either option 4 or 5 could be 
implemented. Option 5 is a 
more radical change to the 
scheme only used by a few 
Councils at present. This 
option may be recommended 
again in the future when we 
have a larger Universal Credit 
caseload.   

Option 6 – To disregard 
Bereavement Support payments 
inline with the Housing Benefit 
regulations 

Implement Consultation findings support 
change. 

Change brings CTS in line 
with wider welfare system.  

 

4      Alternative Options 
 

4.1 The current scheme which was brought in on 1 April 2017 could be left in place 
with no amendments from 1 April 2018. However given the positive response to 
the consultation exercise and as the Council’s funding will continue to reduce, 

Page 39



there is a risk in taking this option that there would be a cost to both Swale and 
the major preceptors. This would then have a knock on affect to other services.  
 

4.2 As part of the consultation, as well as consulting on various options related to the 
design of the scheme, case law has clarified that we are also required to consider 
alternative funding options as opposed to simply changing the current scheme to 
reduce costs. 
 

4.3 Therefore, within the consultation the following questions were posed. Should 
Council Tax be increased for all Council Tax payers to fund the CTS scheme? 
Should Council reserves be used to fund the scheme? Should there be cuts to 
Council services to fund the scheme? 
 

4.4 All options in 4.3 were rejected by the majority of responders – see Appendix I for 
the detail. As the Council’s funding from the Government for the provision of all 
services is likely to be reduced in the future, and as the impact of choosing any of 
the alternative funding options would affect all residents in the Borough, it is not 
considered that any of the options in 4.3 should be taken forward for funding the 
CTS scheme. 

 

5 Consultation Undertaken or Proposed 
 

5.1 Prior to the implementation of any changes to a CTS scheme, authorities are 
required to consult with the public.  There have been a number of challenges to 
CTS consultations, and it should be noted that a judgement handed down by the 
Supreme Court has defined what is meant by ‘good consultation’. 

 
5.2 The guiding principles which have been established through case law for fair 

consultation are as follows: 

(i) the consultation must be carried out at a stage when proposals are still at a 
formative stage; 

(ii) sufficient information on the reasons for the decision must be provided to 
permit the consultees to carry out intelligent consideration of the issues to 
respond; 

(iii) adequate time must be given for consideration and responses to be made; 
and 

(iv) the results of the consultation must be properly taken into account in 
finalising any decision. 

 
5.3 There is also a duty to consult with the major precepting authorities who are 

statutory consultees.  All major precepting authorities were consulted during the 
consultation period. 
 

5.4 Following the report to Cabinet on 12 July 2017 a public consultation was 
undertaken between 17 July 2017 and 28 August 2017. The consultation was 
open to all Swale residents aged 18 or over, i.e. people who pay Council Tax or 

Page 40



receive CTS. The consultation was carried out online, with a direct email to 
approximately 13,000 households, and was promoted on the Council’s website, 
through social media, and in the local media. Paper copies were available on 
request. 

  

6 Implications 
 

Issue Implications 

Corporate Plan Running an effective and efficient CTS Scheme contributes to the 
Council priority of being ‘A Council to be proud of’.  It also 
contributes to the priority of ‘A Community to be proud of’, as it 
supports the most vulnerable whilst creating incentives to work for 
those who are able to. 

The changes introduced through the Welfare Reform agenda and 
Local Council Tax Support Scheme are aimed at providing greater 
work incentives, which have the potential to positively impact on 
the economic prosperity of those returning to employment, as well 
as the wider community.  Data shows that the number of working 
age claimants has reduced, which results at least in part from 
movement of benefits claimants into work. 

Performance is measured through BV9 Percentage of Council Tax 
collected in year. 

Financial, 
Resource and 
Property 

It is anticipated that there will be some limited costs associated with 
the consultation process, but this is a statutory requirement. 

The costs of awards made under the CTS scheme impact on the 
declared tax base, and thereby the council tax yield.  If the cost of 
awards were to be reduced, this would mean that the Council’s tax 
base would increase, and overall council tax income could 
increase. 

Any increase to council tax income is shared through the Collection 
Fund with major preceptors. 

Legal and 
Statutory 

The Council has a statutory duty to consult on a proposed scheme  
under the Local Government Finance Act 2012 and Council Tax 
Reduction Schemes (Prescribed Requirements) (England) 
Regulations 2012 (as amended).As mention in paragraph 5.1, case 
law has determined the guiding principles for fair consultation, 
which we followed. 

Regard needs to be made to the rules around consultation laid out 
through the Supreme Court ruling in the case of R (on the 
application of Moselely) v London Borough of Haringey (2014), and 
in particular, the need to set out alternative choices within the 
consultation.  Referred to in paragraph 5.2.  

Crime and No implications. 

Page 41



Disorder 

Sustainability No implications. 

Health and 
Wellbeing 

Residents who have difficulty in paying their Council Tax can put in 
a claim for a Section 13A discretionary award.  Those whose health 
appears to be affected will be signposted to appropriate advice. 

Risk Management 
and Health and 
Safety 

If consultation is not carried out appropriately, there is a risk of 
challenge once a decision is taken. 

Equality and 
Diversity 

A full Community Impact Assessment has been carried out. 

 

7 Appendices 
 
7.1 The following documents are to be published with this report and form part of the 

report: 

 Appendix I: CTS Scheme review of options 

 Appendix II: CIA CTS Scheme 2018/19 
 

8 Background Documents 
 
Council Tax Support Report 2017/18 Scheme Full Council 23.11.2016 
 
http://services.swale.gov.uk/meetings/documents/s6520/Council%20-
%20Council%20Tax%20Support%20Report%2023.11.2016%20FINAL.pdf  
  

Page 42

http://services.swale.gov.uk/meetings/documents/s6520/Council%20-%20Council%20Tax%20Support%20Report%2023.11.2016%20FINAL.pdf
http://services.swale.gov.uk/meetings/documents/s6520/Council%20-%20Council%20Tax%20Support%20Report%2023.11.2016%20FINAL.pdf


Appendix I 

 

Council Tax Support Scheme Options 

A consultation was carried out for 6 weeks ending on 28 August 2017, 346 people responded 
to the consultation with many commenting on the proposals. Responders were asked to 
comment on six options to change the scheme. They were also asked whether the Council 
should use alternative means such as increasing Council Tax or reducing services to cover 
the cost of the scheme. 

This paper gives an overview of the responses. 

Option 

% agreeing 
with the 
option 

Option 1 - Should the Council keep the current Council Tax Support scheme? 
(Should it continue to reduce Council Tax for applicants in the way and to the extent 
that it does at the moment?) 

38% 

Option 1 – Should we reduce the maximum level of support for working age 
applicants from 20% to 22.5% or 25% 

53% 

Option 2 - Should we reduce the capital limit from the existing £16,000 to £10,000 or 
£6,000? 

57% 

Option 3 – Should we restrict the level of the maximum level of Council Tax Support 
payable to the equivalent of a Band D charge? 

48% 

Option 4 – Should we apply a fixed income period to Universal Credit claims for 
Council Tax Support to avoid multiple changes? 

46% 

Option 5 – Should we apply a tolerance to Universal Credit claims for Council Tax 
Support to avoid multiple changes? 

41% 

Option 6 – Should we disregard Bereavement Support payments inline with the 
Housing Benefit regulations? 

65% 

Do you think we should choose any of the following options rather than the proposed changes to the 
Council Tax Reduction Scheme?  Please select one answer for each source of funding. 

Increase the level of Council Tax  15% 

Find savings from cutting other Council Services 26% 

Use the Council's reserves 31% 

If the Council were to choose these other options to make savings, what would be your order of 
preference? 

Increase the level of Council Tax – Most Preferred 

                                                         Least Preferred 

18% 

70% 

Reduce funding available for other Council Services – Most Preferred  

                                                                                      Least Preferred  

23% 

54% 

Use the Council’s reserves – Most Preferred  

                                               Least Preferred 

49% 

27% 

 

 

 

 

Page 43



Appendix I 

 

Option 1 - Should the Council keep the current Council Tax Support scheme? 
(Should it continue to reduce Council Tax for applicants in the way and to the 
extent that it does at the moment?) 

 
 

Gender Yes No Don’t know 

Male 56 95 14 

Female 72 77 20 

 

Age Yes No Don’t know 

18-24 3 1 0 

25-34 21 31 7 

35-44 26 39 9 

45-54 30 36 13 

55-64 31 40 2 

65-74 16 19 3 

75-84 1 5 0 

85+ 0 1 0 

 

Disability Yes No Don’t know 

Disabled 37 21 7 

Not Disabled 93 147 26 

 

Ethnicity Yes No Don’t know 

White British 122 151 30 

Asian 1 1 0 

Black 0 2 1 

Mixed 2 1 0 

Other 1 4 1 

 

CTS Yes No Don’t know 

In receipt of CTS 63 26 13 

Not in receipt of CTS 66 148 22 

 
The majority of responders were against option 1, to continue to reduce Council Tax for 
applicants in the way and to the extent that it does at the moment.  We asked responders did 

Page 44



Appendix I 

 

they agree we should reduce the maximum level of support further from 80% to 77.5% or 
75%. 
53% were in favour of reducing the maximum level of support further. Of those responders 
who agreed that support should be reduced further 69% felt it should be reduced to 75% 
compared with 31%, favouring the higher level of support at 77.5%. 
 

The majority of responders felt the CTS scheme should be changed.  There was a feeling 
that the burden of Government cuts should be shared and everyone should pay something if 
they are using services.  

There were also comments stating that the council needed to help those in genuine need, 
the most vulnerable, the disabled, the elderly or those who lose their job or fall ill. Some felt 
that raising the contribution would lead to more poverty, arrears and stress, however this did 
not appear to be the majority view.  

 

Gender 77.50% 75% 

Male 19 76 

Female 29 51 

 

Age 77.50% 75% 

18-24 0 1 

25-34 4 32 

35-44 13 28 

45-54 11 22 

55-64 11 28 

65-74 9 10 

75-84 1 3 

85+ 0 1 

 

Disability 77.50% 75% 

Disabled 10 12 

Not Disabled 37 113 

 

Ethnicity 77.50% 75% 

White British 45 112 

Asian 0 2 

Black 1 1 

Mixed 0 1 

Other 0 4 

 

CTS  77.50% 75% 

In receipt of CTS 17 12 

Not in receipt of CTS 32 114 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 45



Appendix I 

 

 

Option 2 - To reduce the capital limit from the existing £16,000 to £10,000 or 
£6,000 

 

 

Gender Yes No Don’t know 

Male 89 73 4 

Female 103 55 11 

 

Age Yes No Don’t know 

18-24 2 2 0 

25-34 36 20 3 

35-44 50 20 4 

45-54 47 30 3 

55-64 35 35 3 

65-74 17 19 2 

75-84 2 4 0 

85+ 1 0 0 

 

Disability Yes No Don’t know 

Disabled 43 18 4 

Not Disabled 147 109 11 

 

Ethnicity Yes No Don’t know 

White British 172 118 14 

Asian 1 1 0 

Black 2 1 0 

Mixed 2 1 0 

Other 4 1 1 

 

CTS Yes No Don’t know 

In receipt of CTS 54 39 9 

Not in receipt of CTS 139 92 6 

 

Page 46



Appendix I 

 

Overall, a greater proportion of responders (57%), were in favour of reducing the capital limit 
for all new working age applicants.  The comments on this option were split between those 
who felt it was unfair that customers could receive help when they had savings compared 
with those who felt we would be removing the incentive to save.  

A higher proportion of responders felt the limit should be reduced to £10,000. 

Option 3 - To restrict the level of the maximum level of Council Tax Support 
payable to the equivalent of a Band D charge 

 

 

Gender Yes No Don’t know 

Male 81 69 16 

Female 78 73 17 

 

Age Yes No Don’t know 

18-24 2 2 0 

25-34 27 21 11 

35-44 33 31 9 

45-54 36 39 5 

55-64 38 33 2 

65-74 18 15 5 

75-84 4 2 0 

85+ 1 0 0 

 

Disability Yes No Don’t know 

Disabled 22 32 11 

Not Disabled 135 109 22 

 

Ethnicity Yes No Don’t know 

White British 145 129 29 

Asian 1 0 1 

Black 2 1 0 

Mixed 1 2 0 

Other 3 1 2 

 

Page 47



Appendix I 

 

CTS Yes No Don’t know 

In receipt of CTS 38 47 16 

Not in receipt of CTS 125 95 17 

 
Those who commented on this option mainly felt it was reasonable to restrict the maximum 
level of CTS to Band D.  However a number of responders felt that residents living in larger 
properties could also fall on hard times and due to schooling/family commitments could not 
move, 

Option 4 – To apply a fixed income period to Universal Credit claims for 
Council Tax Support to avoid multiple changes 

 

 

 

 

Gender Yes No Don’t know 

Male 71 66 27 

Female 80 62 26 

 
 
 

Age Yes No Don’t know 

18-24 2 2 0 

25-34 25 22 11 

35-44 39 22 12 

45-54 29 36 14 

55-64 31 33 9 

65-74 21 12 5 

75-84 3 2 1 

85+ 1 0 0 

 

Disability Yes No Don’t know 

Disabled 21 25 16 

Not Disabled 129 102 36 

Page 48



Appendix I 

 

 
 

Ethnicity Yes No Don’t know 

White British 136 120 45 

Asian 1 0 1 

Black 2 1 0 

Mixed 1 1 1 

Other 4 0 2 

 

CTS Yes No Don’t know 

In receipt of CTS 28 49 24 

Not in receipt of CTS 130 78 28 

  
The majority of responders who commented felt this was a sensible way of saving on 
administration costs. They also felt it would be easier to understand and simplify the system. 
It would help claimants with budgeting. 

Some felt that savings may be limited, it could be too costly to administer and unfair on 
families. 

Option 5 - Should we apply a tolerance to Universal Credit claims for Council 
Tax Support to avoid multiple changes? 

 

 

 

Gender Yes No Don’t know 

Male 65 69 30 

Female 70 65 32 

 

Age Yes No Don’t know 

18-24 1 2 1 

25-34 23 22 13 

35-44 34 25 15 

45-54 27 37 15 

55-64 30 31 11 

Don't know 
19% 

No 
40% 

Yes 
41% 

Page 49



Appendix I 

 

65-74 14 16 7 

75-84 4 2 0 

85+ 1 0 0 

 

Disability Yes No Don’t know 

Disabled 19 27 18 

Not Disabled 116 134 41 

 

Ethnicity Yes No Don’t know 

White British 122 123 55 

Asian 1 0 1 

Black 2 1 0 

Mixed 2 1 0 

Other 3 0 3 

 

CTS Yes No Don’t know 

In receipt of CTS 29 42 31 

Not in receipt of CTS 111 93 30 

 
This appeared to be the least favourable option. Although some responders felt it would 
reduce administration and simplify the system others felt it could leave some claimants 
struggling. 

Option 6- To disregard Bereavement Support payments inline with the Housing 
Benefit regulations 

 

 

 

Gender Yes No Don’t know 

Male 99 48 17 

Female 116 33 18 

 

Age Yes No Don’t know 

18-24 1 2 1 

25-34 34 18 7 

Page 50



Appendix I 

 

35-44 57 13 3 

45-54 45 24 10 

55-64 49 14 9 

65-74 25 10 2 

75-84 3 1 2 

85+ 1 0 0 

 

Disability Yes No Don’t know 

Disabled 36 18 11 

Not Disabled 174 64 25 

 

Ethnicity Yes No Don’t know 

White British 199 71 30 

Asian 1 1 0 

Black 1 2 0 

Mixed 1 1 1 

Other 4 0 2 

 

CTS Yes No Don’t know 

In receipt of CTS 59 27 15 

Not in receipt of CTS 159 55 20 

 
Option 6 received the highest number of positive responses. Most responders who 
commented felt this payment helped those who had been bereaved in a time of need so 
should be disregarded. Especially if there were no drawbacks and it would bring the scheme 
in line with Housing Benefit. A small number felt that all income should be taken into account. 

Survey Demographics and Applied Weighting 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Survey Population 

 
Count % Count % 

Gender (Over 18s Mid-year Population Estimates) 

Men 166 49.5% 54,976 49% 

Women 169 50.5% 57510 51% 

Age (Over 18s Mid-year Population Estimates) 

18 to 24 years 4 1% 11,582 10% 

25 to 34 years 59 18% 17,457 16% 

35 to 44 years 74 22% 17,347 15% 

45 to 54 years 80 24% 21,156 19% 

55 to 64 years 73 21% 17,443 16% 

65 to 74 years 38 11% 16,107 14% 

75 years and over 7 2% 11,421  10% 

Ethnicity (2011 Census 18 years and over) 

White groups 304 95% 101,848 97% 

BME 14 5% 3,027 3% 

Disability (2011 Census all people) 

Disability 65 20% 25,322 19% 

No Disability 267 80% 110,513 81% 

The table to the left shows the 

profile of the survey respondents in 

relation to the population of Swale. 

This table tells us that men and 

women are correctly represented.  

It also shows that people aged 25 

years and under and those aged 75 

and over are under-represented. 

Those with a disability are correctly 

represented. 

The results in this report have not 

been weighted by age, sex or 

disability because we do not 

consider the variances to be 

significant. 

Page 51



Appendix I 

 

 

Age Male 

Population Survey 

Count % Count % 
18 to 24 years 6,098 5% 2 1% 
25 to 34 years 8,516 8% 27 8% 
35 to 44 years 8,430 7% 27 8% 
45 to 54 years 10,417 9% 40 12% 
55 to 64 years 8,735 8% 41 12% 
65 to 74 years 7,864 7% 21 6% 
75 years and over 4,916 4% 7 2% 

Age Female         
18 to 24 years 5,430 5% 2 1% 
25 to 34 years 8,941 8% 32 10% 
35 to 44 years 8,944 8% 47 14% 
45 to 64 years 10,739 10% 39 12% 
55 to 64 years 8,708 8% 31 9% 
65 to 74 years 8,243 7% 17 5% 
75 years and over 6,505 6% 0 0% 

Calculated using the ONS Mid-year population estimates 
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration/populationestimates 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 52

https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration/populationestimates


Appendix I 

 

Responses to the consultation questions 

Have your say on the Council Tax Reduction Scheme 

 

 

 

 

Answer Options

Response 

Percentage

Response 

Count

Yes 98.57% 344

No 1.43% 5

349

0

I have read the background information about the Council Tax Reduction 

Scheme. This question must be answered before you can continue.

Answered question

Skipped question 

Answer Options

Response 

Percentage

Response      

Count

Yes 38.51% 134

No 50.57% 176

Don't know 10.92% 38

348

1

Should the Council keep the current Council Tax Reduction scheme? (Should 

it continue to reduce Council Tax for applicants in the way and to the extent 

that it does at the moment?)

Answered question

Skipped question 

Answer Options

Response 

Percentage

Response      

Count

Yes 52.75% 182

No 42.32% 146

Don't know 4.93% 17

345

4Skipped question 

Do you agree with the Option 1?

Answered question

Answer Options

Response 

Percentage

Response      

Count

22.5% 31.05% 59

25% 68.95% 131

190

159

If yes, should we increase to:

Answered question

Skipped question 

Page 53



Appendix I 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Answer Options

Response 

Percentage

Response      

Count

Yes 56.61% 197

No 38.51% 134

Don't know 4.89% 17

348

1

Answered question

Skipped question 

Do you agree with the Option 2?

Answer Options

Response 

Percentage

Response      

Count

Yes 48.13% 167

No 41.79% 145

Don't know 10.09% 35

347

2

Do you agree with  Option 3?

Answered question

Skipped question 

Answer Options

Response 

Percentage

Response      

Count

Yes 46.09% 159

No 37.97% 131

Don't know 15.94% 55

345

4

Do you agree with Option 4?

Answered question

Skipped question 

Answer Options

Response 

Percentage

Response      

Count

Yes 41.28% 142

No 39.83% 137

Don't know 18.90% 65

344

5Skipped question 

 Do you agree with Option 5?

Answered question

Answer Options

Response 

Percentage

Response      

Count

Yes 64.43% 221

No 24.20% 83

Don't know 11.37% 39

343

6

Do you agree with Option 6?

Answered question

Skipped question 

Page 54



Appendix I 

 

 

 

 

 

Answer Options Yes No Don't know Total

Increase the level of Council Tax 58 263 14 335

Find savings from cutting other Council Services 91 217 20 328

Use the Council's savings 127 169 36 332

343

6

Do you think we should choose any of the following options rather than the proposed 

changes to the Council Tax Reduction Scheme? Please select one answer for each 

source of funding.

Answered question

Skipped question 

Answer Options

I would 

prefer this

I don't have a 

preference

I would not 

prefer this Total

Increase the level of Council Tax 60 38 237 335

Reduce funding available for other Council Services 77 77 178 332

Use the Council’s savings 164 79 92 335

343

6

If the Council were to choose these other options to make savings, what would be your 

order of preference? In each case, please choose your preferred option by 

selecting from "I would prefer this", "I don't have a preference" or "I would not prefer 

this"

Answered question Answered question

Skipped question Skipped question 

Answer Options

Response 

Percentage

Response      

Count

Yes 29.57% 102

No 68.70% 237

Don't know/unsure 1.74% 6

345

4

Are you, or someone in your household, getting a Council Tax Reduction 

at this time?

Answered question

Skipped question 

Answer Options

Response 

Percentage

Response      

Count

Female 48.70% 169

Male 47.84% 166

Prefer not to say 3.46% 12

347

2

What is your sex?

Answered question

Skipped question 

Page 55



Appendix I 

 

 

 

 

Answer Options

Response 

Percentage

Response      

Count

18-24 1.16% 4

25-34 17.05% 59

35-44 21.39% 74

45-54 23.12% 80

55-64 21.10% 73

65-74 10.98% 38

75-84 1.73% 6

85+ 0.29% 1

Prefer not to say 3.18% 11

346

3

Answered question

Skipped question 

What is your age?

Answer Options

Response 

Percentage

Response      

Count

Yes 18.73% 65

No 76.95% 267

Don't know/unsure 0.29% 1

Prefer not to say 4.03% 14

347

2

Disability: Are your day to day activities limited because of a 

health problem or disability which has lasted, or is expected 

to last, at least 12 months?

Answered question

Skipped question 

Ethnic Origin: What is your ethnic group?

Answer Options

Response 

Percentage

Response      

Count

White British 89.68% 304

Mixed/Multiple ethnic groups 0.88% 3

Asian or Asian British 0.59% 2

Black/African/Caribbean/Black British 0.88% 3

Other ethnic group 1.77% 6

Prefer not to say 6.19% 21

339

10

Answered question

Skipped question 

Page 56



 

Community Impact Assessment 

A Community Impact Assessment (CIA) is a document that summarises how the council has had due 

regard to the public sector equality duty (Equality Act 2010) in decision-making.  

When to assess 

A CIA should be carried out when you are changing, removing or introducing a new service, policy or 

function.  The assessment should be proportionate; a major financial decision will need to be assessed 

more closely than a minor policy change. 

Public sector equality duty 

The Equality Act 2010 places a duty on the council, when exercising public functions, to have due regard to 

the need to: 

1) Eliminate discrimination, harassment and victimisation; 

2) Advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic and 

persons who do not share it; 

3) Foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic and persons who 

do not share it.   

These are known as the three aims of the general equality duty.  

Protected characteristics 

The Equality Act 2010 sets out nine protected characteristics that apply to the equality duty: 

 Age 

 Disability 

 Gender reassignment 

 Marriage and civil partnership* 

 Pregnancy and maternity 

 Race 

 Religion or belief 

 Sex 

 Sexual orientation 

*For marriage and civil partnership, only the first aim of the duty applies in relation to employment. 

 

We also ask you to consider other socially excluded groups, which could include people who are 

geographically isolated from services, with low literacy skills or living in poverty or low incomes; this may 

impact on aspirations, health or other areas of their life which are not protected by the Equality Act, but 

should be considered when delivering services. 

Due regard 

To ‘have due regard’ means that in making decisions and in its other day-to-day activities the council must 

consciously consider the need to do the things set out in the general equality duty: eliminate discrimination, 

advance equality of opportunity and foster good relations.  

How much regard is ‘due’ will depend on the circumstances and in particular on the relevance of the aims 

in the general equality duty to the decision or function in question. The greater the relevance and potential 

impact, the higher the regard required by the duty. The three aims of the duty may be more relevant to 

some functions than others; or they may be more relevant to some protected characteristics than others.  

 

Page 57



 

Collecting and using equality information 

The Equalities and Human Rights Commissions (EHRC) states that ‘Having due regard to the aims of the 

general equality duty requires public authorities to have an adequate evidence base for their decision 

making’.  We need to make sure that we understand the potential impact of decisions on people with 

different protected characteristics.  This will help us to reduce or remove unhelpful impacts.  We need to 

consider this information before and as decisions are being made. 

There are a number of publications and websites that may be useful in understanding the profile of users of 

a service, or those who may be affected. 

 The Office for National Statistics Neighbourhoods website http://www.neighbourhood.statistics.gov.uk  

 Swale in 2011 http://issuu.com/swale-council/docs/key_data_for_swale  

 Kent County Council Research and Intelligence Unit 
http://www.kent.gov.uk/your_council/kent_facts_and_figures.aspx 

 Health and Social Care maps http://www.kmpho.nhs.uk/health-and-social-care-maps/swale/  
 
At this stage you may find that you need further information and will need to undertake engagement or 

consultation.  Identify the gaps in your knowledge and take steps to fill these.   

Case law principles 

A number of principles have been established by the courts in relation to the equality duty and due regard: 

 Decision-makers in public authorities must be aware of their duty to have ‘due regard’ to the equality 

duty 

 Due regard is fulfilled before and at the time a particular policy is under consideration as well as at the 

time a decision is taken. Due regard involves a conscious approach and state of mind.  

 A public authority cannot satisfy the duty by justifying a decision after it has been taken.  

 The duty must be exercised in substance, with rigour and with an open mind in such a way that it 

influences the final decision.  

 The duty is a non-delegable one. The duty will always remain the responsibility of the public authority. 

 The duty is a continuing one. 

 It is good practice for those exercising public functions to keep an accurate record showing that they 

have actually considered the general duty and pondered relevant questions. Proper record keeping 

encourages transparency and will discipline those carrying out the relevant function to undertake the 

duty conscientiously.  

 The general equality duty is not a duty to achieve a result, it is a duty to have due regard to the need 

achieve the aims of the duty. 

 A public authority will need to consider whether it has sufficient information to assess the effects of the 

policy, or the way a function is being carried out, on the aims set out in the general equality duty.  

 A public authority cannot avoid complying with the duty by claiming that it does not have enough 

resources to do so.  

 

Examples of case law can be found here EHRC relevant case law.  They include examples of why 

assessing the impact before the decision is made is so important and case law around the need to have 

due regard to the duty 

 

 Page 58

http://www.neighbourhood.statistics.gov.uk/
http://issuu.com/swale-council/docs/key_data_for_swale
http://www.kent.gov.uk/your_council/kent_facts_and_figures.aspx
http://www.kmpho.nhs.uk/health-and-social-care-maps/swale/
http://www.equalityhumanrights.com/relevant-case-law/


 

Lead officer: Zoe Kent 

Decision maker: Council 

People involved: Zoe Kent 

Decision: 

 Policy, project, service, 
contract 

 Review, change, new, stop 

 This is a localised scheme that the Borough is required to put in 
place to give financial help towards Council Tax to those residents 
on a low income. 

 We are required to review this scheme before 31 January of the 
financial year. 

Date of decision: 

The date when the final decision 
is made. The CIA must be 
complete before this point and 
inform the final decision.   

Full Council  – 22 November 2017 

Summary of the decision: 

 Aims and objectives 

 Key actions 

 Expected outcomes 

 Who will be affected and 
how? 

 How many people will be 
affected? 

What are the aims and objectives? 

1. To provide help towards Council Tax as a localised Council Tax 
Support scheme to those on a low income in the Borough 

2. To provide pensioners with the support as per The Council Tax 
Reduction Schemes (Prescribed Requirements) (England) 
Regulations 2012 as amended by The Council Tax Reduction 
Schemes (Prescribed Requirements) (England) (Amendment) 
Regulations 2016 

3. To provide working age claimants support taking into consideration 
the reduction in financial support provided within the Revenue 
Support Grant towards the Council Support Scheme. 

4. Support vulnerable people 

5. Support claimants back into work 

What are the key actions? 

• Providing a scheme that supports those claimants on a low income 

• Putting into place a scheme that does not mean a financial burden 
to the authority which could lead to putting other services provided 
by the Borough at risk. 

• Continuing to design and deliver services to meet the needs of 
vulnerable customers 

• Consider user feedback, engagement and consultation when 
designing the scheme 

What are the expected outcomes? 

To put in place a scheme that balances the needs of vulnerable 
claimants against the budget requirements of the Borough. 

Who will be affected? 

Those working-age residents who are on a low income who claim help 
towards their Council Tax. This covers all areas of the Borough but 
particularly those who live in deprived areas. 

How many people will be affected? 

6,230 working age claimants will be affected by the changes to the 
scheme (10% of all Council Tax account holders). 

Information and research: 

 Outline the information and 
research that has informed 

Since 1st April 2013, the Council has maintained a local Council Tax 
Support scheme.  This replaced the national Council Tax Benefit 
scheme, which ended on 31 March 2013. 

Page 59



 

the decision. 

 Include sources and key 
findings. 

 Include information on how 
the decision will affect people 
with different protected 
characteristics. 

Council Tax Support helps provide support to council taxpayers who 
have a low income.  It supports the taxpayers by providing a reduction 
in the actual amount in Council Tax payable. 

The Council has the ability to determine the level of support given to 
working age applicants only.  The scheme for pension age applicants is 
determined by Central Government, and therefore the ability of the 
Council to vary that part of the scheme is limited and can only enhance 
the national scheme in any event. 

When Council Tax Support was first introduced, Central Government 
provided a specified level of grant, which was approximately 10% lower 
than the amounts previously given (pre 1 April 2013).  This has now 
been replaced by a general duty to provide a scheme and funding is 
not separately identified within the grants given to the Council. 

After the original consultation, the Council decided to introduce a 
Council Tax Support scheme that differed from the original Council Tax 
Benefit in that, instead of granting a maximum level of support of 
100%, it would limit the maximum support to 91.5% in 2013/14 (due to 
an extra grant being received from DCLG), decreased to 85% from 
2014/15 and 80% in 2017/18. 

Changes since 2013 

Since the introduction of Council Tax Support the overall scheme 
adopted by the Council has remained broadly the same, with only 
applicable amounts and non-dependant charges being uprated, as well 
as minor changes being made to mirror changes to the Housing Benefit 
scheme.  Central Government has also continued to uprate changes to 
applicable amounts for pension age applicants, again to mirror the 
changes in Housing Benefit. 

From April 2017 changes were made to the scheme including: 

 the more accurate targeting of support to those working age 
applicants who most need it; 
 

 the need to change the scheme, not only to align with proposed 
changes to Housing Benefit, but also to align the scheme with 
the approach taken by the Department for Work and Pensions 
in the creation, introduction and roll out of Universal Credit; and 
 

 to address potential shortfalls in funding due to the continued 
reduction in Central Government grants. 

The changes brought in were: 

1. Reducing the maximum level of support for working age 
applicants from 15 per cent to 20 per cent. 

2. Removing the Family Premium for all new working age 
applicants 

3. Reducing backdating to one month 
4. Using a set income for self-employed earners after 18 months 

self-employment. 
5. Reducing the period for which a person can be absent from 

Great Britain and still receive Council Tax Reduction to four 
weeks. 

6. To introduce a standard level of non dependant deduction of 
£15 for all working-age claimants who have non-dependants 
resident with them who work 16 hours or more per week. 

 

 

Page 60



 

The Proposed Scheme for 2018/19 

An annual review will be undertaken as to the effectiveness of the 
current Council Tax Support scheme; and a public consultation will be 
undertaken to gather views as to whether the current scheme should 
be changed.  The review will ensure changes to the working age 
scheme meet the following: 

• to increase the more accurate targeting of support to those 
working age applicants who most need it; 

• to continue to align the scheme with  proposed changes to 
Housing Benefit and Universal Credit; and 

• to address potential shortfalls in funding due to the continued 
reduction in Central Government grants. 

The Council sought  feedback through the consultation as to whether 
further increases in council tax, cuts to services, and use of limited 
savings should be considered as an alternative to changing the Council 
Tax Support Scheme.  Changes such as those in points 1 to 3 below 
may affect all residents in the Borough and across Kent.  

 

1. Should Council Tax be increased for all Council Taxpayers? 

2. Should Council reserves be used to fund the scheme? 

3. Should there be further cuts to Council services? 

The Council proposes to maintain a similar methodology as in the past.  
Any changes, if adopted, will be effective from 1st April 2018. The 
proposed options were put out to consultation, as follows: 

a. Should an increase be made in the minimum payment of Council 
Tax made by recipients of Council Tax Support?  Views have 
obtained as to whether the current minimum payment of 20% 
should be increased to 22.5% or 25%? 

b. Should the capital limit be reduced from the existing £16,000 to 
£6,000 or £10,000? 

c. Should the maximum level of Council Tax Reduction payable be 
restricted  to the equivalent of a Band D charge? 

d. Should a mechanism be put in place to limit the impact of changes 
to Universal Credit awards? 

e.    Should we apply a tolerance to Universal Credit claims  to avoid 
multiple changes? 

f.     Should we disregard Bereavement Support payments inline with 
the Housing Benefit regulations? 

 

Scope of the Community Impact Assessment 

The following identifies the potential impact on claimants and 
particularly groups of claimants. 

It should be noted that Pensioners will continue to be protected under 
the rules prescribed by Central Government.  These broadly replicate 
council tax benefit scheme, which existed prior to 1 April 2013. 

 

Central Government has not been prescriptive in how it does this, but 
points to the Council’s existing responsibilities including the Child 
Poverty Act 2010, the Disabled Person Act 1986, and the Housing Act 
1996, as well as the public sector equality duty in section 149 of the 

Page 61



 

Equality Act 2010. 

The Council has given consideration to the effects of the options on 
working age claimants, in particular, vulnerable groups. 

 

Disability 

Working age people with disabilities continue to make up a high 
proportion of the caseload at 25%.  Working age people with 
disabilities receive more per week than working age people without 
disabilities on average, due to the design of the scheme that ignores 
certain disability benefits and awards higher applicable amounts. 

Age 

The age groups of person receiving CTS broadly reflect the overall 
population, the main difference being those between the ages of 18-24. 
This difference is probably caused by the lower applicable amounts for 
single claimants in this group reducing the amount of people who are 
entitled to CTS.  Those aged 54-64 currently receive the highest 
weekly amount, on average.  Those aged 18-24 currently receive the 
lowest weekly amount, on average. 

Carers 

There is a slightly higher proportion of claimants with a carer in the 
household, than the population generally overall (13%).  Working age 
claimants with a carer in the household receive more per week, on 
average, than working age claimants without a carer in the household.  
The main reason for this is the treatment of both disability and care 
within the existing scheme. 

Gender 

Females continue to make up a high proportion of the caseload at 
68%.  Although, there is a difference between the average amounts 
females and males receive per week, this is due to factors relating to 
circumstances which directly affect the calculation of council tax 
reduction, and is not linked to a claimant’s sex directly. 

Ethnicity 

This information is not collected from all claimants as it is not relevant 
to the calculation of council tax reduction. 

Other protected characteristics 

We do not collect information about the following characteristics from 
claimants as it is not relevant to the calculation of council tax 
reductions: 

 Religion or belief 

 Sexual orientation 

 Gender reassignment 

 Marital or civil partnership status 

 Pregnancy or maternity 

Actions to mitigate any identified impacts 

The Council has an Exceptional Hardship Scheme; the design of this 
allows any claimant to apply for additional support.  It examines their 
overall circumstances, examining both income and expenditure with a 
view to determining whether exceptional hardship exists. 

Under the scheme, claimants will potentially be able to receive 
additional support up to the full level of their Council Tax. 

Page 62



 

Method of Consultation 

The Council has used the following methods to obtain the view of 
taxpayers. 

Stakeholders Methodology 

1. Existing claimants (both working age and pensionable age Web 
based questionnaire 

Hard copy documents to be provided as necessary 

2. Council taxpayers and service users generally 

Web based questionnaire 

Hard copy documents to be provided as necessary 

3. Interested organisations and groups. 

Web based questionnaire 

4. Organisations with significant interest to be notified directly  

Hard copy documents to be provided as necessary 

General Awareness 

Provision of information and awareness raising of changes and 
proposals 

News releases 

Face-to-face communication at customer service points 

Information in libraries/surgeries and other public venues  

The Council’s Website and Social Media 

Analysis and Assessment 

A full analysis and assessment will be provided 

Consultation: 

 Has there been specific 
consultation on this decision? 

 What were the results of the 
consultation? 

 Did the consultation analysis 
reveal any difference in views 
across the protected 
characteristics? 

 

 

 Can any conclusions be 
drawn from the analysis on 
how the decision will affect 
people with different 
protected characteristics? 

 

Yes 

 

Results of the consultation can be found in Appendix I: CTS Scheme 
review of the consultation. 

Options 2 and 6 received a higher amount of responses in favour of 
accepting the changes across the protected characteristics. In the case 
of option 1 disabled responders had a higher positive response to the 
this option which asked whether the scheme should remain the same 
with the same level of support. This was also the case with the 
responses from those in receipt of CTS. 

A higher proportion of disabled responders and those in receipt of CTS 
did not agree with options 3,4 and 5. 

 
Those with a protected characteristic often receive a premium giving 
them extra help, e.g. a carer or disability premium, giving them higher 
levels of help towards their Council Tax payments.  
 
Claimants with children will have less income for their living expenses 
and for caring for their children if they have to pay more towards their 
Council Tax.  

 

 

 

Page 63



 

Is the decision relevant to the aims of the equality duty? 

Guidance on the aims can be found in the EHRC’s PSED Technical Guidance. 

Aim Yes/No 

1) Eliminate discrimination, harassment and victimisation Yes 

2) Advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristic and persons who do not share it 

Yes 

3) Foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic 
and persons who do not share it 

No 

 

Assess the relevance of the decision to people with different protected characteristics and assess 
the impact of the decision on people with different protected characteristics. 

When assessing relevance and impact, make it clear who the assessment applies to within the protected 
characteristic category. For example, a decision may have high relevance for young people but low 
relevance for older people; it may have a positive impact on women but a neutral impact on men.   

Characteristic 

Relevance to decision 

High/Medium/Low/None 

Impact of decision 

Positive/Negative/Neutral 

Age Medium Negative 

Disability Medium Negative 

Gender reassignment None Neutral 

Marriage and civil partnership None Neutral 

Pregnancy and maternity Low Negative 

Race None Neutral 

Religion or belief None Neutral 

Sex None Neutral 

Sexual orientation None Neutral 

Other socially excluded groups1 Low Negative 

 

Conclusion: 

 Consider how due regard has 
been had to the equality duty, 
from start to finish. 

 There should be no unlawful 
discrimination arising from the 
decision (see PSED 
Technical Guidance). 

Advise on the overall equality 
implications that should be taken 
into account in the final decision, 
considering relevance and 
impact. 

Summarise this conclusion in the body of your report 

We have considered how all groups with protected characteristics will 
be affected by the scheme.  As part of our consultation we asked 
responders their gender, age ethnicity, whether they considered 
themselves disabled and whether they claimed CTS.  A breakdown of 
how they responded to the options is available in Appendix I: CTS 
Scheme review of the consultation. 

We also asked for comments on each option.  Although the results 
show those with a disability and in receipt of CTS were more likely to 
respond negatively to the scheme in their comments about the options, 
more than a third of disabled responders and CTS claimants agreed 
yes to every option. 

As in previous years schemes, those with a protected characteristic 
such as the disabled or those with children, receive a higher income 
(due to extra benefits being awarded to cover these costs) than a 
single claimant or couple especially those who are under 25.  To 
mitigate these issues the Council provides a Section 13A discretionary 
hardship scheme. 

                                                           
1
 Other socially excluded groups could include those with literacy issues, people living in poverty or on low incomes or 

people who are geographically isolated from services Page 64

http://www.equalityhumanrights.com/uploaded_files/PSD/technical_guidance_on_the_public_sector_equality_duty_england.pdf
http://www.equalityhumanrights.com/uploaded_files/PSD/technical_guidance_on_the_public_sector_equality_duty_england.pdf
http://www.equalityhumanrights.com/uploaded_files/PSD/technical_guidance_on_the_public_sector_equality_duty_england.pdf


 

The evidence from the database of current claimants suggests that 
there could be some limited potential for the decision to impact more 
adversely on people with particular protected characteristics (primarily 
women and people with a disability than on people without those 
characteristics, and thus not to contribute to the advancement of 
equality of opportunity for people with and without protected 
characteristics. However, the adverse impact on individuals is relatively 
small, while the financial situation the council faces – and the 
associated implications for essential public services – suggest that this 
is the least intolerable option. This position is clearly supported by a 
majority of consultation responses, including those from current council 
tax support recipients. 

 

Timing 

 Having ‘due regard’ is a state of mind.  It should be considered at the inception of any decision. 

 Due regard should be considered throughout the development of the decision.  Notes should be taken 

on how due regard to the equality duty has been considered through research, meetings, project teams, 

committees and consultations. 

 The completion of the CIA is a way of effectively summarising the due regard shown to the equality duty 

throughout the development of the decision.  The completed CIA must inform the final decision-making 

process.  The decision-maker must be aware of the duty and the completed CIA. 

Full technical guidance on the public sector equality duty can be found at: 

http://www.equalityhumanrights.com/uploaded_files/PSD/technical_guidance_on_the_public_secto

r_equality_duty_england.pdf 

This Community Impact Assessment should be attached to any committee or SMT report relating to 

the decision.  This CIA should be sent to the Website Officer (Lindsay Oldfield) once completed, so 

that it can be published on the website. 

 

Page 65

http://www.equalityhumanrights.com/uploaded_files/PSD/technical_guidance_on_the_public_sector_equality_duty_england.pdf
http://www.equalityhumanrights.com/uploaded_files/PSD/technical_guidance_on_the_public_sector_equality_duty_england.pdf


 

Action Plan 

Issue Action Due date Lead Officer Manager Cabinet Member 

Views needed on the 
proposed scheme 
from claimants, 
residents and 
stakeholders  

Consultation to be carried out - 
completed 

09/2017 Zoe Kent Amber Christou Cllr Duncan Dewar-
Whalley 

Financial hardship for 
CTRS working age  
claimants 

Further consultation work to be 
carried out in Quarter 2 
2017/18 – completed  

10/2017 Zoe Kent Amber Christou Cllr Duncan Dewar-
Whalley 

Drop in collection rate 
for Council Tax  

The collection of Council Tax 
to be monitored throughout the 
financial year 20177/18 

10/2017 Zoe Kent Amber Christou Cllr Duncan Dewar-
Whalley 

Financial hardship for 
residents with an 
empty property 

Advice on alternative help to 
be sent out with Council Tax 
bills and adjustment notices 

02/2018 Zoe Kent Amber Christou Cllr Duncan Dewar-
Whalley 

 

 

     

 

Actions in this action plan will be reported to the CIA group once a quarter, so updates will be required quarterly. 

 

P
age 66



 

Cabinet Meeting Agenda Item: 7 

Meeting Date  

Report Title Complaints, Compliments and Comments Annual 
Report 2016/2017 

Portfolio Holder Cllr Andrew Bowles, Leader 

SMT Lead Martyn Cassell, Head of Commissioning & Customer 
Contact 

Head of Service Martyn Cassell, Head of Commissioning & Customer 
Contact 

Lead Officer Carol Sargeant, Customer Service Manager 

Key Decision No 

Classification Open 

Forward Plan  Reference number: 

Recommendations 1. Members are asked to note the report 

 

1. Purpose of Report and Executive Summary 
 
1.1 This report presents the annual summary of complaints, compliments and 

comments received by Swale Borough Council (SBC) during the year from 
April 2016 to March 2017. 

 

2. Background 
 
2.1 This annual report summarises the Complaints, Compliments and Comments 

(CCC) received by the Council during the ensuing year.  Swale’s corporate 
complaints system comprises the following process: 

(i) an initial request for service or enquiry should be made to the service 
area it relates to in the first instance.  A request or enquiry may become a 
complaint if the council fails to meet our service standards; 

(ii) Stage 1: this is whereby the complainant is not satisfied with the 
response (or lack of response) from the service area or the complaint 
relates to a member of staff.  Stage 1 complaints will be responded to 
within 10 working days by a manager or Head of Service; 

(iii) Stage 2: the Chief Executive who will investigate and respond direct to 
the complainant within 10 working days.  If the timeframe cannot be met 
the complainant will be notified and kept informed of progress; and 

(iv) Local Government Ombudsman: if after following our complaints process 
customers are still unhappy, they can contact the Local Government 
Ombudsman, an independent service set up by the Government to 
investigate complaints about council matters.  The Ombudsman will not 
usually investigate most complaints until they have been through the 
Council’s complaint process. 

Page 67

Agenda Item 7



 

2.2 The current CCC system, which has now been in operation for six full years, is 
now well established throughout the organisation.  It has contributed to a much 
more robust and transparent approach to the management of CCC, with 
greater ease of access to the system for our customers. 

 
2.3 The system provides monitoring, including weekly summaries to Heads of 

Service, so we can be assured that all complaints are logged, tracked, and 
responded to, as well as improved reporting facilities so we can ensure that 
our response times are meeting the standards we have set and learn from 
feedback. 

 
2.4 The CCC process: 

(i) raises the profile of the importance of CCC to Swale as a customer-
centric organisation through managers’ meetings, all staff briefings, and 
individual team meetings; 

(ii) carries out surveys of all customers who have raised a formal complaint 
in order to gain feedback from them and seek to improve the process 
accordingly; 

(iii) publishes performance reports on the intranet and provide quarterly 
reports on complaints at service level, which is used to inform the 
quarterly performance report to the Strategic Management Team; and 

(iv) publishes this annual report in order to provide accountability and 
transparency to residents and service users. 

 
Customer Service Excellence  
 
2.5 During the past year, the Customer Service Centre, Environment Response 

Team, Housing Services, and Revenues & Benefits all gained a renewal of the 
externally verified Customer Service Excellence (CSE) assessment.    

 
2.6 One of the components of the CSE accreditation process is to examine the 

complaints procedures within an organisation.  Again, during this year’s 
assessments, Swale’s CCC system was cited as an example of good practice. 
 

Complaints Received 
 
2.7 The total number of CCCs received during 2016/17 was 891compared with 

927 in 2015/16, a decrease of 4%.  The number of complaints decreased by 
1%, compliments by 20%, and an increase of 16% of comments. 

 

Category 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 
Trend against 
previous year 

Complaints received 441 356 351 -1% 

Compliments received 344 337 268 -20% 

Comments received 319 234 272 +16% 

Total 1,104 927 891 -4% 

Page 68



 

2.8 Further details by service areas for Complaints are on Appendix I. 
 
2.9 During 2016/17, a total of 32 complaints (9%) were escalated to Stage Two 

(Chief Executive review).  
 
Responding to Complaints 
 
2.10 The CCC system requires that a response to complaints be made (whether 

justified or otherwise) within a corporate standard of 10 working days.  The 
target for 2016/17 was 90%, which was met - during 2016/17, 92% of 
complaints, whether or not justified, were responded to within the corporate 
standard. 

 

 2014/15 2015/16 2016/2017 

Percentage of complaints 
responded to within 10 working days 

89% 94% 92% 

Target 87.5% 90% 90% 

 
2.11 The Customer Service Manager regularly monitors performance standards, 

both corporately and in local areas, and has dialogue with the respective 
Heads of Service to address any performance issues, which include 
administrative efficiency improvements as well as seasonal or service-related 
issues which will inevitably cause occasional peaks in levels of complaints. 

 
Local Government Ombudsman (LGO) Complaints 
 
2.12 It is recognised and emphasised by the Ombudsman, that the statistics in their 

letter comprises the data they hold, and may not necessarily align with the 
data the authority holds. 
 

2.13 The outcomes for the 20 complaints that were formally received by the LGO 
are set out in the table below. 

 

Ombudsman Action 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 

Closed after initial enquiry  7 8 4 

Not upheld 2 1 3 

Referred back for local resolution 1 11 11 

Incomplete/invalid 0 2 1 

Upheld 2 1 1 

Total 12 23 20 

 
2.14 In the breakdown of detailed decisions and investigations made by the 

Ombudsman these are the findings. 
 

Page 69



 

Decision  Department Final Ombudsman Decision 

Upheld Housing There was one fault in the way the Council dealt 
with Miss X when she asked for assistance as a 
homeless person but that did not cause her 
injustice. The Ombudsman did not investigate 
Ms X’s complaint about the Council’s decision 
on her homelessness application because she 
successfully challenged it by using the statutory 
review procedure. 

Not 
Upheld 

Planning and 
Development 

There is no evidence of fault in the way the 
Council considered a planning application for 
the development of a housing estate. 

Not 
Upheld 

Planning and 
Development 

Any delay by the Council has not caused Mrs X 
a significant enough injustice to warrant further 
investigation. On balance, I am not persuaded 
the outcome of the planning process would 
have been any different even if the Council had 
responded to her more quickly. 

Not 
Upheld 

Planning and 
Development 

Mr A complains the Council failed to properly 
consider the impact its decision to grant 
planning permission for a new build bungalow in 
a garden adjacent to his property will have on 
his amenity. There is no evidence of fault by the 
Council and we will not pursue the complaint 
any further. 

 
Feedback on the complaints system 
 
2.15 During 2016/17 courtesy telephone calls by Customer Service have been 

attempted to all complainants.  This approach allows a more qualitative 
discussion to take place, and as such more positive feedback is being 
received than various methods that have previously been used to seek 
feedback from complainants.  We have learnt that customers still find it difficult 
to separate the outcome of the complaint (which may not be to their 
satisfaction), from the way in which their complaint was handled. 

 
2.16 Some examples of customers comments from the courtesy calls include: 

(i) “My issue was all sorted within half an hour of my complaint”; 

(ii) “Your call has explained in more detail about the problem, it’s a shame 
that the response to my complaint wasn’t explained so well”; 

(iii) “I still had to chase up this issue to get the issue resolved” and 

(iv) “It took a while to get sorted, but pleased it has now been resolved”. 
 
Reviews and improvements 
 
2.17 Within the year of 2016/17, an internal audit was carried out by Mid Kent Audit 

Partnership. The audit outcome was a final assurance rating of ‘Sound’.   It 
made four recommendations for action and three advisory notes which are 
being progressed this year.  

Page 70



 

2.18 One aspect of effective complaint handling is to inform service improvements.  
Whilst we need to continue to improve the capturing of examples where this 
has happened, some examples from 2016/17 are as follows: 

(i) CSC have worked with the automated payment provider to make 
amendments to scripting that some customers were experiencing 
difficulties with; 

(ii) Open Spaces have changed procedures on how they record issues; 

(iii) Contracts are using complaints to monitor trends in contractual issues; 

(iv) Changes have been made to the set up of the screen in the Committee 
Room so it should no longer go into sleep mode; 

(v) Customer First training programme developed. 

 
Summary 
 
2.19 In summary, therefore, of the 351 complaints received by Swale Borough 

Council during 2016/17, 32 (9%) were escalated to the Chief Executive (stage 
2), and two (0.5%) ultimately required responses to the Ombudsman, with only 
one upheld. 

 

Categories 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 

Total complaints 441 356 351 

Justified complaints* 279 202 198 

Non-justified complaints* 141 150 152 

Partially justified  21 2 1 

Justification not stated 0 2 0 

Stage 2 (Chief Executive) 18 22 32 

Ombudsman 12 4 2 

*Definitions used: 

Justified: where it is deemed that the relevant process/procedure has 
not been followed. 

Unjustified: where it is deemed that the relevant process/procedure 
has been followed. 

It should be noted that this criteria is open to the interpretation of the 
officer and their opinion at the time of completing the complaint. 

 

3 Proposals 
 
3.1 Members are asked to note the contents of this report. 
 

4. Alternatives 
 

Page 71



 

4.1 None. 
 

5. Consultation 
 
5.1 There has been no formal consultation relating to this report, as it is a 

summary of statistics for the year in question.  However, the Complaints, 
Compliments and Comments system is by definition a process by which 
customers are able to deliver feedback on the current provision of services. 

 

6. Implications 
 

Issue Implications 

Corporate Plan Dealing well with Complaints, Compliments and Comments is core 
to the Corporate Plan priority of being ‘A council to be proud of’. 

Financial, 
Resource and 
Property 

None. 

Legal and 
Statutory 

None. 

Crime and 
Disorder 

None. 

Sustainability None. 

Health and 
wellbeing 

None. 

Risk Management 
and Health and 
Safety 

None. 

Equality and 
Diversity 

Responding to complaints in a positive and effective manner 
demonstrates the Council’s commitment to ensuring that access to 
Council services is available to all. 

 

7. Appendices 
 
7.1 The following documents are to be published with this report and form part of 

the report: 

 Appendix I: Complaints by Service Area 2016/17 

 Appendix II: Local Government Ombudsman’s Summary Review of 
Swale Borough Council 2015/16 

 

8. Background Papers 
 

8.1 None. 
 

Page 72



 

Appendix I 

Complaints by Service Area 2016/17 

Service Area Qtr 1 Qtr 2 Qtr 3 Qtr 4 
Total 

2016/17 
Total 

2015/16 

Responded within 10 working days 

2016/17 2015/16 

No. % No. % 

Chief Executive 0 0 1 2 3 0 3 100% 0 0 

Commercial 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 1 100% 

Communications 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Community Safety 1 0 0 1 2 0 2 100% - - 

Contracts (incl.Waste & Streets) 41 60 29 38 168 146 166 99% 144 99% 

CSC 2 1 2 2 7 2 7 100% 2 100% 

Democratic Services (Electoral)  2 4 0 1 7 6 6 86% 5 83% 

Development Services 6 12 4 10 32 50 32 100% 45 90% 

Economy & Regeneration 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 2 100% 

Engineering 0 0 0 1 1 1 1 100% 1 100% 

ERT 4 9 15 4 32 31 28 88% 30 97% 

Gateway  0 1 0 1 2 0 2 100% - - 

Grants 0 1 0 0 1 0 0 0% - - 

Hackney Carriages 0 2 0 1 3 1 1 33% 1 100% 

Housing Environmental 0 0 1 0 1 1 1 100% 1 100% 

Housing Options 1 5 2 4 12 11 11 92% 10 91% 

ICT 0 0 0 1 1 0 1 100% - - 

Legal 1 0 0 0 1 0 1 100% - - 

Open Spaces 3 9 3 4 19 11 12 63% 9 82% 

Parking 13 13 6 6 38 49 29 76% 43 88% 

Pollution 0 0 0 0 0 3 - - 2 67% 

Properties 1 0 0 0 1 0 1 100% - - 

Regeneration 0 0 0 0 0 2 - - 1 50% 

Revenues & Benefits 5 3 6 3 17 38 15 88% 36 92% 

Staying Put 0 0 2 1 3 1 3 100% 1 100% 

P
age 73



 

Appendix II 

 
 
 

P
age 74



  

Cabinet Meeting Agenda Item: 8 

 

Meeting Date 8th November 2017 

Report Title Active Lives Framework 

Cabinet Member Cllr Ken Pugh, Cabinet Member for Housing and 
Wellbeing 

SMT Lead Emma Wiggins, Director of Regeneration (Interim) 

Head of Service Charlotte Hudson, Head of Economy and Community 
Services (Interim) 

Lead Officer Russell Fairman, Community Sport and Physical Activity 
Officer 

Recommendations 1. To approve the draft Active Lives Framework 2017 – 
2022 to enable 8 week consultation period. 

 

 

1 Purpose of Report and Executive Summary 
 
1.1 This report provides Cabinet with an update on the Sport and Physical Activity 

Framework 2012 – 2017 (SPAF) and details proposals for the draft Active Lives 
Framework 2017 – 2022. 
 

1.1 This report highlights that although significant work has been developed and 
positive progress made against the SPAF in the borough, the population still has 
a significant number of individuals that are inactive and poor health related data 
compared to other Kent authorities. 
 

2 Background 
 
2.1 In 2012 the current Sport and Physical Activity Framework “Move Ourselves” was 

adopted, which provided a platform for the sector in Swale to contribute to 
improving the health and wellbeing of the borough.  This also provided a step 
change in the Council from direct delivery to an enabling and supporting role to 
ensure that we maximised the support that we could provide to the sector.  The 
reduction in staff and budget allocation initially reduced the Councils visibility but 
with the Sports Grants the Community Officer is able to engage, support and 
provide a valuable service to SPA community organisations. 
 

2.2 The 2012-17 SPAF focused on 6 objectives and has successfully made progress 
against all of them.  Some of the key achievements are detailed on page 4 and 5 
on the Active Lives Framework. 
 

2.3 The 2012 – 17 SPAF also had a number of targets to measure impact but due to 
significant changes in collection through Sport England’s Active Lives survey 
there are no comparable figures.  However, the data that is available is 
documented in the revised Active Lives Framework on Page 5. 

Page 75

Agenda Item 8



  

2.4 With the expiration of the current framework, a review and assessment of 
progress against priorities, national and strategic drivers and consultation with the 
local Sport and Physical Activity sector have taken place.  This identified that 
there has been a national shift in approach from traditional sector approach to 
develop sport for sport sake to help use SPA to support more active and healthier 
lifestyles in the wider community. This is demonstrated nationally and locally with 
Sport England’s strategy - ‘Towards an Active Nation’ and the KCC Kent Sport 
Team’s strategy of ‘Towards an Active County’. 
 

2.5 The Swale Active Lives Framework – Towards an Active Swale 2017- 2022 
(attached in Appendix I) has thus been developed and focuses on the following 
key priorities: 
 

 Active You – offering activities that are in the right places at the right time 
and will enable residents of all abilities to participate and challenge 
themselves in a supportive environment. 

 Active and Healthier Lives - development of programmes and campaigns 
that help residents understand the benefit that an active life can have on 
their health. 

 Active Facilities – making the best use of the facilities available in Swale 
including  open spaces, land and water, ensuring they are as accessible 
and affordable as possible to encourage participation and usage. 

 Active Learning – identifies opportunities through SPA to develop activity 
specific skills and general learning to support the social and personal 
development of the volunteers delivering opportunities in Swale. 

 Active Together – ensuring the SPA infrastructure in Swale is strong with 
almost 300 known organisations offering activities but the cultural 
differences can provide barriers to partnership work, opportunities should 
be explored to help develop partnerships. 

 Active Promotion – co-ordinating the promotion of the benefits of a more 
active lifestyle with activity at the heart of the message will raise the profile 
and recognition of the SPA partners. 

 
2.6 Progress against the delivery of this framework will be measured through Sport 

England’s Active Lives survey which now breaks the population into ‘Active’ and 
‘Inactive’ with the later taking part in less than 30 minutes of exercise/activity a 
week. This is now forming the new focus for Sport England’s work to address 
‘Inactivity’ and improving ‘Healthier Lifestyles’ whilst continuing to support the 
traditional ‘Sporting’ offer.   

 

3 Proposal 
 

3.1 To approve the draft Active Lives Framework – Towards an Active Swale 2017 – 
2022 to enable 8 week consultation period. 
 

4 Alternative Options 
 

Page 76



  

4.1 To not adopt the revised Active Lives Framework this is not recommended as 
there are significant health inequalities in the borough, which SPA have a 
significant impact.  The framework also ensures the delivery of the Council’s 
Sport Development function is prioritised on these areas of greatest need. 
 

5 Consultation Undertaken or Proposed 
 

5.1 Two consultation events and an online consultation were held with the SPA 
sector. 

 
5.2 Internally Planning, Housing, Open Spaces and Property Services were 

consulted. 
 

6 Implications 
 
 

Issue Implications 

Corporate Plan The support to the Voluntary and Community Sector support the 
Corporate Priority, ‘A Community to be Proud of’.   

Financial, 
Resource and 
Property 

The priorities of the Active Lives Framework will be largely 
delivered within the network of partners and their existing 
resources. Internally it will be within the current Economy and 
Community Services team and budgets; providing the conduit to 
identify and co-ordinate any external resources.  

Legal and 
Statutory 

None identified at this stage. 

Crime and 
Disorder 

Sport and Physical Activity can provide a successful diversion from 
Anti-Social Behaviour. 

Environmental 
Sustainability 

None identified at this stage. 

Health and 
Wellbeing 

Increased activity within inactive residents will have an impact on 
the individual’s health and wellbeing; SPA can support this and 
currently Sport England is leading the sector to explore how the 
SPA offer can be evolved contribute to the Health sector priorities. 
 

Risk Management 
and Health and 
Safety 

None identified at this stage. 

Equality and 
Diversity 

The Active Lives Framework will aim to support SPA partners 
directly and indirectly to ensure provision of programmes meet 
requirements and assess implications for all groups to engage. 
 
Through the Active Lives Framework the Council will ensure that 
when services are provided and or advised upon equality and 
diversity will be key during planning, delivery and evaluation. 

Page 77



  

Privacy and Data 
Protection 

Any data held by the SPA function of the Council will adhere to the 
Councils policies to secure personal and sensitive information.  

 

7 Appendices 
 
 The following documents are to be published with this report and form part of the 

report 

 Appendix I:  Swale Active Lives Framework – Towards an Active Swale 2017- 
2022 

 

8 Background Papers 
 
8.1 Swale Borough Council Move Ourselves – A Sport & Physical Activity Framework 

for Swale 2012 - 17 
http://www.swale.gov.uk/spa-framework 

Page 78

http://www.swale.gov.uk/spa-framework


 
 
 

 
Active Lives 
Framework 

 
2017 – 2022 

 
Towards an Active Swale 

  

Page 79



 

 

 

 
 
Foreword  
 
I am pleased to introduce the Swale Active Lives Framework that sets out our vision for the 
borough and how all stakeholders can play their part in enabling our residents to be active and 
thus lead a more healthy and sustainable lifestyle.  This framework builds upon the success of the 
Sports and Physical Activity Framework (2012 – 2017) with a greater focus on the 23.9% of 
individuals in our communities that are currently inactive. 
 
Whilst it is important to continue to support the organisations, clubs and residents that are running, 
supporting or participating in current and traditional activities in the borough the Council needs to 
follow the lead organisations in the SPA sector to investigate how it to can adapt its and the local 
provision within the SPA network to increase activity levels and the wellbeing of residents. 
 
We believe by working holistically across the public, private and voluntary sector we can all 
contribute to the health of the borough.  So if it is from gaining motivation to start to live a healthier 
lifestyle or the aspirations of those to compete at an elite level of sport this framework provides 
opportunities for organisation to get involved and helps work ‘Towards an Active Swale’. 
 
 
 
<Add photo of KP> 
 
Ken Pugh 
Cabinet Member for Housing and Wellbeing 
 
  

Page 80



 

 

 

Introduction 
 
The Council adopted the Sport and Physical Activity Framework for Swale 2012 – 2017 (SPAFS) 
in July 2012, to act as an enabler to various sports activities and initiatives in the Borough with the 
aim of increasing participation and addressing the high levels of inactivity. The Framework has 
evolved into the ‘Active Lives Framework’ to explore how Sport & Physical Activity (SPA) can 
contribute to the wider health and wellbeing for our residents. 
 
The Active Lives Framework remains the overarching document for SPA in the borough and drives 
the strategic priorities that SPA provision delivers against. It draws together the suite of strategies 
both that Swale Borough Council has developed and those from external bodies to review the 
existing priorities for the borough. 
 
The Active Lives Framework takes forward the direction of SPA work of the Council to ensure that 
positive achievements help address the issues of inactivity and increase participation. During the 
life of the SPAFS there has been a shift in government and the Sports Governing Bodies thinking 
towards SPA, recognising that ‘sport’ for the enthusiast is a key focus but less formal options of 
their sport can be used to help inactive residents to become more active.  
 
At a local level this provides the SPA networks and providers an opportunity to review their 
programmes to make them more inclusive, with a real opportunity to tap into resources that are 
focused on those at risk of health issues due to an inactive lifestyle and helping to encourage an 
Active Swale.  
 

Methodology 
 
The Active Lives Framework has been developed by: 

 Drawing on data and research available and through consultation with Active Swale 
Network. 

 Analysing the key national, regional and local strategic drivers that influence and can be 
influenced by the Active Lives Framework in Swale. 

 
The Active Lives Framework sets out: 
 

 A Vision for promoting Active Lives in Swale for all levels and abilities. 

 Ways for the SPA network to support each other to sustain and increase participation. 

 How the SPA network can work together, adapt and grow to encourage inactive individuals 
to make a positive change to their lifestyle. 

 How success can be measured 
 
  

Page 81



 

 

 

SPAF 2012 – 2017  
 
The 2012-17 SPAF focused on the following 6 objectives: 
 
1. Provide the right activities in the right places to the right people 
2. Encourage active and healthier lives through regular participation in sport and physical 

activity 
3. Provide accessible, affordable and good quality facilities and places to participate in 

sport and physical activity 
4. Enable opportunities to develop skills, learning and achieve potential through sport and 

physical activity 
5. Work with the voluntary and community sector and education sector to be more 

involved and increase participation in sport and physical activity 
6. Raise the profile and recognition of sport and physical activity in contributing to wider 

outcomes 
 
During 2012 – 2017 the SPA partners have delivered a wide range of programme and activities to 
enhance and develop activity in Swale.  Some of the highlights include: 
 

 Reallocation of Council resources to provide an ‘enabling and facilitating’ role.  This new 
focus has enabled the Council to be more responsive to the needs of SPA partners, 
supporting over 40 different partners when called upon to assist with their own issues and 
priorities;  

 Creation of a Sports Grant Scheme of £20k per annum, since 2014 the scheme has 
distributing 68 grants of up to £1000 to local organisatons to help increase particpation in 
their programmes; 

 Piloted a Physical Activity Health Trainer Programme  to increase physical activity within the 
Health Trainer programme, over 700 inactive residents are being supported to be more 
active; 

 Transfer of Assets from Council ownership to local football organisations; 

 Continued funding for local leisure provision at Sheerness, Sittingbourne and Faversham; 

 Annually support the Swale Youth Development Fund (SYDF) with a grant of £3,690 that 
compliments their own fundraising to distribute to young people with talent in Swale; 

 Re-establishment of the School Games Organiser in the Sittingbourne and Sheppey school 
sport area to manage a programme of activities; whilst establishing links with the East Kent 
Coastal School Games Organiser that supports Faversham Schools; 

 Since 2014 the Council has managed the Sport England Satellite Club Programme in 
Swale to develop community links with schools securing over £30k to support after school 
activities; 

 Active Swale breakfast network and evening sessions have been provided covering 
funding, coach/volunteer training, research, Elite performer support, Kent School games; 

 Established Sittingbourne Parkrun with 1800 participants in the first year; 

 Local businesses have engaged with the Kent Healthy Business Awards and the 
‘Workplace Challenge’ to address the health and wellbeing of their staff.  

 Faversham FC have secured external funding to develop the facilities at Salters Lane. 

 Efforts of volunteers within all clubs to maintain and increased participation in SPA 

 Volunteers have re-established the Swale School Football Association to help raise the 
profile of talented players in Swale. 

Page 82



 

 

 

 Isle of Sheppey Sailing Club developing plans to improve the club facility and access to its 
programmes; 

 Brents Residents Association fund raising to install an outdoor gym in Faversham 

 Millfield Allotment Association developing a club house to provide opportunities all year and 
weathers. 

 

  

Page 83



 

 

 

The SPAFS listed success measures that would use research undertaken by external partners to gauge how Swale is performing in 
regards to SPA and Health indicators. A number of the measures were directly taken from research undertaken by Sport England 
either through their Active People survey, that was replaced in 2016 by Sport England with the ‘Active Lives’ survey or specific 
programmes of work. As a result of the change in the survey and how the figures are reported we are unable to provide direct 
comparisons to some of the measures, shown in Table 1. 
 
Table 1 SPAFS measures 

Measure Baseline 

 

Most recent data Commentary 

Result Year  

Increased participation of adults in sport and physical activity 

Original measures: 

Adults with zero days of physical activity per week 

At least 30 mins of physical activity per week 

At least 5 x 30 mins of physical activity per week 

 

51.9% 

10.5% 

11.5% 

 

Not available 

Not available 

Not available 

 

 

Original measures were drawn directly from 
Sport England’s Active People survey. This 
was replaced in 2015 by the Active Lives 
survey, from which the new measures are 
drawn. The change in survey methodology 
means that recent results for most original 
measures are unavailable.  

New measures: 

Inactive (no physical activity ) 

Insufficiently active (1-20 mins activity per week) 

Active (150-599 mins of physical activity per week) 

Active (600+ mins of physical activity per week) 

 

28.6% 

18.8% 

30.6% 

22.1% 

 

32.4% 

13.5% 

32.3% 

21.8% 

 

2015/16 

2015/16 

2015/16 

2015/16 

Other measures  

Child obesity rate 

Adult obesity rate (Swale Borough) 

18.1% 

30.2% 

17.1% 

30.9% 

24.1% 

2014 

2014 

 

Swale CCG 

East Kent Coastal CCG 

Satisfaction with sport and leisure facilities 49% 60% 2015/16 Taken from Sport England’s Local Sport 
Profile 

Quality accreditations secured: 

 Quest at Leisure Centres 

 Green Flags 

 Quality Coast Award / Blue Flags 

 

2 

2 

2 

 

2 

2 

2 

 

2016 

2016 

2016 

 

 

 

Blue Flag replaced Quality Coastal Award 

P
age 84



 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 

  

 Club Mark 58 52 2013 

Adults regularly volunteering to deliver sports and 
physical activity at least an hour a week 

6.2% 10.1% 2012/14 Active People survey for 2014/16 
insufficient response to provide result 

Sports Leaders identified 

Sports Makers recruited 

250 

120 

250 

1,015 

 

2011/12 

2013 

County programme ended in 2012 

Kent only total provided – National Join In 
campaign replaced post-Olympic volunteer 
programme 

P
age 85



 

 

 

Current Situation 
 
Swale Context 

 Swale is made up of countryside, coastal and urban areas and has 3 distinct parts: 
Faversham, Sittingbourne and Isle of Sheppey plus a large rural hinterland. 

 Swale is the third most deprived local authority area in Kent. 

 The population is estimated to increase from 142,528 to 158,961 by 2025, most notably the 
65+ age group.  This ageing population is likely to increase the need for different and more 
accessible low impact sport and leisure provision.  Keeping this ageing population active will 
help to prevent high-cost health conditions. 

 There are pockets of severe deprivation, with 18 neighbourhoods amongst the most deprived 
nationally; 14 of these are located on the Isle of Sheppey. 

 23.1% of children are currently living in poverty, significantly worse than the national average 
of 19.2. 

 In the Census 2011 - 92.9% of Swale’s residents classify themselves as White British, 2.6% 
as White Other, 0.6% as White Irish, 1.2% Mixed/multiple ethnicity, 1.2% as Asian/Asian 
British and 1.0% Black/African/Caribbean/Black British. The diversity of the borough is 
increasing.  

 
 
Sport and Physical Activity 

 Active Lives survey (Jan 2017) classifies 23.9% of adults in Swale as ‘Inactive’ doing less 
than 30 minutes in a week; this is above the national average of 22%. 

 Active Lives survey (Jan 2017) classifies 14.7% of adults in Swale as ‘Insufficiently Active’ 
taking part in 30-149 mins of activity compared to 12.6% Nationally; 61.4% are classified as 
‘Active’ taking part in 150+ of activity compared nationally with 65.4%. 

 Low cost, subsidised activities and family-friendly activities are the most popularly cited when 
asking for views on how to get more people active. 

 
Health and well being 

 Significant health inequalities exist, with a 11.7 year difference in life expectancy between the 
two ends of the deprivation scale. 

 In 2014 the adult obesity rates in Swale CCG (Sheppey and Sittingbourne) was 30.9% with 
Canterbury and Coastal Kent CCG (which incorporates Faversham) at 24.1%, with the 
England figure at 24.1%. The worst figure for a CCG area in England was 30.9%   

 69% adults have excess weight, worse than the national average of 64.8%. 

 17.1% of children are obese, which is slightly better than the national average of 19.1%. 

 Barriers to participation include lack of information of what is available, time constraints, cost, 
access, travel constraints, childcare requirements, ill health, and a lack of motivation. 

 Local sport profile identifies that associated Health cost of physical inactivity is over £2m. 
 
 

Page 86



 

 

 

SPA Infrastructure 
 

 In 2015, 59.6% of those using local sports provision were satisfied. 

 22.4% of residents in 2015/16 are currently members of or regularly join activities of sports and 
recreation clubs. 

 There are 204 known sports clubs in Swale and 159 partners that are linked to the Active 
Swale Network. 

 52 sports clubs have completed or renewed their Clubmark accreditation. 

 There are 285 sports facilities in Swale. 

 The Local Sports Profile identifies there are 55 sports related businesses in Swale contributing 
£48m economic value of health benefits of participating in sports. 

 
What you said 
 
A consultation was held during March 2017 with the SPA network and feedback was provided as 
to whether the existing vision and priorities were the right ones to guide the Council in the next 5 
years with regards to SPA. The 25 partners that attended the two open sessions and the nine that 
completed the electronic survey all indicated that both the vision and priorities were still relevant 
and identified areas of focus for 2017 – 22.  In addition to SPA network consultation other public 
sector agencies and Council departments were consulted.  The summary of the feedback is 
detailed below: 
 

 There is a desire to help increase activity levels but the capacity of the facilities and 
volunteers focuses on ensuring the current members are provided for rather than helping 
inactive residents take up a sport. 

 For clubs to offer a non-traditional, non-competitive sport alternative there would need to be 
investment of resources to ensure the needs of the inactive are met. 

 Support from the Health sector would need to be provided to ensure clubs & organisations 
are offering an appropriate activity as well as helping promote and motivate the inactive to 
try activities. 

 Club facilities play an important role in the borough to provide local opportunities and the 
ability of the owners to diversify their offer to supplement income without detracting from the 
sport offer. 

 Swale has a mix of private, public and voluntary sector facilities that provide a range of 
opportunities. 

 Small grants through the Council are easy to access and adaptable to ensure it is used to 
meet the needs of the club / organisation. 

 Recruiting and maintaining the volunteer workforce of a club is a consistent pressure for a 
committee, support with both sport specific and general club management courses is a 
constant requirement. 

 Linking with schools is proving difficult due to the cultures i.e. volunteers having full time 
jobs and working during school hours. 

 There needs to be the ability for voluntary clubs and schools to communicate and develop 
opportunities to support each other in both promotion of sport and the benefits it can have 
for students mentally and physically. 

 The marketing of SPA in the Borough needs to be developed to ensure that digital and 
social media is better used to promote the activities and benefits of being active and a 
healthier lifestyle. 

 

Page 87



 

 

 

Strategic Fit 
 
The national and local drivers the ALF needs to take into account of have been analysed to ensure 
that the ALF priorities are in line with the strategic direction and outcomes being pursued by 
partner agencies. Table 1 provides a summary of the strategies: 
 

National/ Regional Local 

 Sporting Future: A new Strategy for an 
Active Nation (Cabinet Office, 2015) 

 Towards an Active Nation Strategy 
2016 - 2021(Sport England) 

 Moving More, Living More (Cabinet 
Office, 2014) 

 Everybody Active Every day (PHE, 
2014) 

 Change4Life campaign (PHE) 

 Strategic Plan for the next 4 years: 
Better outcomes by 2020 (PHE, 2016) 

 Childhood Obesity Strategy (Cabinet 
Office, 2016) 

 Towards an Active County – Kent Sport 
Strategic Framework for Sport in Kent & 
Medway. 

 Kent’s Joint Health and Well Being 
Strategy 2014 – 2017 (currently being 
reviewed) 

 Making Swale a Better Place: 
Corporate Plan 2015-2018 

 Swale’s Local Plan 

 Health and Well Being 
Improvement Plan 

 Playing Pitch Strategy – 2016 - 
2026 

 Open Spaces & Play Strategy – 
2017- 2022 

 Indoor & Built Facility sports 
Strategy 2015 - 2025 

 Equalities Scheme 2016 - 2020 

 
 
 
 
 
 

  

Page 88



 

 

 

The Vision 
 
That the residents of Swale are encouraged, motivated, informed and have the opportunity to be 
more active and healthier. Enabling them to live life to the full, be happy and well, reaching their 
full potential. 
 
The Priorities 
 
Active You 
 
This priority is about offering activities that are in the right places at the right time and will enable 
residents of all abilities to participate and challenge themselves in a supportive environment. 
 
Partners wanting to contribute to this priority could: 
 

 Provide welcoming and supportive environments that focus on the needs of the 
customer. 

 Provide opportunities so individuals can regularly participate at their level of ability. 

 Promote being active as well as playing sport. 

 Provide activities that safely raises the heart rate and gets you moving. 

 Work with other organisations and agencies to enhance your offer. 

 Explore opportunities within the workplace 

 Understand what creates barriers for people to join in and see if you can address then.  
e.g. cost or transport. 

 
Active and Healthier Lives 
 
This priority is about the development of programmes and campaigns that help residents 
understand the benefit that an active life can have on their health. 
 
Partners wanting to contribute to this priority could: 
 

 Raise awareness and campaigning  to inform behaviour change and create more 
resilient habits that will cement more active and healthier lifestyles 

 Explore partnership opportunities to engage with non-traditional SPA organisations to 
widen the scope of the local SPA offer 

 Provide opportunities to engage with families of participants to become more active with 
multi-generational opportunities 

 Link with national campaigns and events that showcase local and national examples of 
good practice to cover all aspects of a healthier lifestyle 

 Identify new technologies that will help raise the awareness of the benefits and results of 
being active 

 Promote the social benefits of volunteering within local community organisations 

 Use of wider healthier lifestyle programmes to promote to SPA providers i.e. National 
garden and grow schemes 

 
 
 
 

Page 89



 

 

 

Active Facilities 
 
This priority focuses on making the best use of the facilities available in Swale including  open 
spaces, land and water, ensuring they are as accessible and affordable as possible to encourage 
participation and usage. 
 

Partners wanting to contribute to this priority could: 
 

 Provide facilities that are safe, good quality, multi-sport, accessible and affordable 

 Create the right outdoor and indoor spaces to be active 

 Work in partnership to utilise facilities and open spaces 

 Utilise new technologies in conjunction with existing facilities to widen provision 

 Support existing and new opportunities to transfer facilities to community organisations 

 Review facility use and diversifying the offer to community 

 Support improvement of facilities  

 Promote the full range of community facilities within Swale 

 Enhance facilities through the utilisation of developer contributions as per the 
requirements identified in Open Spaces and Play Strategy, Playing Pitch Strategy and 
Built Facilities Strategy 

 
Active Learning 
 
This priority identifies opportunities through SPA to develop activity specific skills and general 
learning to support the social and personal development of the volunteers delivering opportunities 
in Swale. 
 

Partners wanting to contribute to this priority could: 
 

 Raise awareness of the commitment and benefits of having skilled coaches 

 Explore and promote opportunities for skill/ workforce development 

 Encourage volunteering within SPA providers to inspire others 

 Offer support for new and existing SPA partners  
 

Active Together 
 
This priority is about ensuring the SPA infrastructure in Swale is strong with almost 300 known 
organisations offering activities but the cultural differences can provide barriers to partnership 
work, opportunities should be explored to help develop partnerships. 
 

Partners wanting to contribute to this priority could: 
 

 Develop partnerships between organisations for shared outcomes 

 Create links between the voluntary and education sector to increase participation 

 Share information on partner’s activity priorities to increase participation 

 Create links and offers between Health and SPA sectors to lead healthier lives 

 Support borough networks that encourage partnership working 

 Share knowledge and experiences to motivate residents to be more active  
 

Page 90



 

 

 

 
 
 
Active Promotion 
 
This priority is about co-ordinating the promotion of the benefits of a more active lifestyle with 
activity at the heart of the message will raise the profile and recognition of the SPA partners. 
 

Partners wanting to contribute to this priority could: 
 

 Contribute to a wider marketing brand of SPA within Swale 

 Engage with national campaigns and events to promote healthier lifestyles 

 Incorporate new technologies to help promote the SPA network. 

 Contribute towards a system to review information and promotion of SPA 

 Advertise and update their activity offer for the borough  
 

  

Page 91



 

 

 

Activities and Case Studies 
(developing infographics for each based on criteria that will provide facts and an overview rather 
than paragraphs of text) 
 
Swale Borough Council Sports grants 
Project  
To provide small grants for local organisations to increase participation and activities available to 
residents 
 
Cost 
£20k a year 
 
Support 
SBC 
 
Achievements 
3years of funding to clubs 
2014/15 – 23 = £19.1k (23 new) 
2015/16 – 23 = £19.5k (17 new) 
2016/17 – 22 = £17.5k (14 new) 
 
parkrun UK in Sittingbourne 
Project  
To establish a 5km running route in Milton Creek Country Park 
 
Cost 
£6k to establish 
Free for all participants 
 
Support 
SBC 
Friends of Milton Creek 
Parish Hall/Church 
KCC – Kent Sport 
 
Achievements 
Over 1800 different participants in its first year Feb 2016 to Jan 2017 
Average of 20 volunteers a week supporting the runners and event 
 
 
Boughton Bowls club 
Project 
Resolve planning and build new club house 
 
Cost 
Club House Build - £153,000 
 
Support 
Viridor Credits 
SBC 

Page 92



 

 

 

KCC 
Club Members 
Community of Boughton-Under-Blean 
 
Achievements 
Club House funded, built and opened on 21st April, establishing a permanent home for bowls in 
Boughton-under-Blean. 
 
Health Trainer project 
Project 
Three year pilot to increase activity levels in clients linked to the Kent Community Health 
Foundation Trust. 
Costs 
£108k to fund the pilot 
Free for clients to access 
 
Support 
Funding and delivery –  

 National Lottery & Sport England 

 Swale Borough Council 

 KCHFT 
 
Achievements 
731 individuals engaged over the 3 years – 2014 to 2017 
10,664 sessions attended by the individuals, average of 14.5 sessions per person 
 
Satellite Club Funding – Sport England 
Project 
Support Kent Sport to secure Sport England Satellite Club funding to create Secondary School 
and Community Club links in priority sports identified by the schools in Swale 
 
Cost 
In kind contribution for secondary school facilities and staff time 
 
Support 
Sport England 
Kent Sport 
Swale Borough Council 
Secondary Schools in Swale 
Identified Community Clubs 
Governing Bodies of Sport 
 
Achievements 
All secondary schools in Swale have engaged with the programme and collectively secure £40k 
since 2014 
Helped establish Heads of PE meetings 3 times a year 
737 participants through the programme since 2014 
  

Page 93



 

 

 

Outcomes/ Success Measures 
 
SPA Indicators 
The Sport England ‘Active Lives Survey’ has replaced the ‘Active People Survey’ and is new way 
to measure sport and activity throughout England providing data on the levels of activity at a local, 
regional and national level. 
 
 

Activity Levels Swale Kent England 5 year target 

Inactive 0-30 mins 23.9% 21.4% 22.0%  

Active 31-149 mins 14.7% 13.0% 12.6%  

Active 150 mins + 61.4% 65.6% 65.4%  

 
 
Health Indicators 
The following information has been taken from both the KCC Public Health Observatory that 
provides ‘Analysis, knowledge and evidence to improve health and wellbeing across Kent: starting 
well, living well and ageing well’; and the Sport England Local Sport Profile tool. 
 

Measures Swale Kent 5 year target 

Reception year obesity 9.4 8.7  

Year 6 Obesity 18.9 18.29  

Reception year excess weight 23.6 21.6  

Year 6 excess weight 33.7 32.8  

Excess weight in adults  69% 65.5%  

Life expectancy at birth 79.4 80.8  

Life expectancy ay 65 years 18.85 19.61  

Mental Health contact rate (16-64) 27.91 28.31  

Mental Health contact rate (65+) 65.09 60.02  

 

 
  

Page 94



 

 

 

Be involved 

We all have a role to play in encouraging and motivating more people to choose to be more active, 
more often. It is hoped that the ALF will be adopted by key agencies involved in SPA in Swale. We 
welcome contact from any organisation interested in playing its part. 
 

How to use the Framework 
 
The Active Lives Framework has been developed to help support partners to both sustain their 
current provision and explore options to adapt and develop their programmes to help increase 
opportunities for inactive residents. It will be through partnership working and aligning SPA 
organisations priorities that the network will be able to maximise resources. 
 
The Active Lives Framework will help: 
 

 Evidence the role SPA can take to support healthier lifestyles 

 Support organisations to take ownership of SPA provision 

 Build on existing and encourage new partnerships 

 Diversify partners programmes to meet changing needs of the sector 

 Provide a focal point for the SPA network 

 Promote equality and safeguarding good practise in provision 

 Sustain organisations and celebrate the SPA heritage in Swale 

 Identify funding sources to invest in SPA in Swale 

 Put the varying needs of the user at the centre of services and activities 
 

Further information 
If you would like to help achieve the priorities set out in the Active Lives Framework of for more 
information on the Active Swale Network then contact: 
 
Russell Fairman – Community (SPA) Officer 
Swale Borough Council 
russellfairman@swale.gov.uk 

Page 95



This page is intentionally left blank



Recommendations for Approval

South Thames Gateway Building Control Joint Committee – 21 September 2017

Expansion of South Thames Gateway Building Control Partnership

Resolved that:
(1) Members agreed to the expansion of the partnership through the inclusion of 

Canterbury City Council’s building control service. 

South Thames Gateway Building Control Partnership Business Plan 2018-
2021

Resolved that: 
(1) Subject to the points raised in the minutes regarding readiness to deal with 

further expansion and succession planning, The draft Business Plan 2018-2021 
(dated 30 August 2017 Version 2) and Delivery Plan 2018-2021 (dated 30 
August 2017 Version 2) be approved, and be sent to each Partner Authority for 
comments; and

(2) That the Director be asked to invite neighbouring councils to a conference on 
the work of the partnership.

Monitoring report April 2017 to August 2017

Resolved that 
(1) The report be noted.

Page 97

Agenda Item 9



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	5 Review of Fees and Charges
	6 Council Tax Support Scheme 2018/19
	Agenda Item 6 Appendix I
	Agenda Item 6 Appendix II

	7 Complaints, compliments and comments annual report 2016/17
	8 Approval of Active Lives Framework for consultation
	Agenda Item No. 8 Active Lives Framework

	9 Minutes of the South Thames Gateway Building Control Joint Committee held on 21 September 2017

